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IMPORTANT NOTICE

Swicorp is a closed joint stock company registered under the laws of the
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and registered under the commercial
registration number 1010233360 dated 06/05/1428H (corresponding to
11/06/2007G) with a capital of SAR 500 million. Swicorp is regulated by
the Capital Market Authority ("CMA") of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
and is licensed by CMA under the license number 12161-37.

Swicorp provides investment banking and asset management services to
its clients and investors under CMA licensed activities as follows:

.. Licensing Commencement

= Dealing as Principal

= Underwriting

= Managing (Funds) 07/05/2006 30/06/2007
= Advising

= Arranging

= Custody 24/03/2012 05/02/2013
= Managing - Client Portfolio 05/02/2014 02/09/2014

Swicorp, as the Fund Manager for Swicorp Wabel REIT Fund (“Fund”),
has prepared this document in compliance with the applicable
regulations issued by CMA. Swicorp has used and relied upon
information from third party service providers and public sources in
preparation of this document. Swicorp has not independently verified
the accuracy and completeness of such information and has assumed
that all such information is complete, accurate, and not misleading.

The value of units and income of the Fund may go up or down and
investors may receive less than the original investment. All investors
should consider their respective specific individual and financial situation
and seek professional investment and legal advice prior to investing in
the Fund. Detailed and specific information pertaining to the Fund is
provided in the terms and conditions of the Fund which should be read
and understood prior to investing in the Fund.

Neither Swicorp nor any of its affiliates, directors, officers, employees,
or agents give any representation, undertaking, or warranty, express or
implied, pertaining to the (ii) accuracy or completeness of any
information contained herein, or (ii) future performance of the Fund.

Swicorp, Kingdom Tower, 49 Floor, King Fahad Road, P.O. Box
- 2076, Riyadh 11451, Tel: +966 11 211 0737, Fax: +966 11
211 0733
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Fund Manager

Swicorp

Kingdom Tower, 49th Floor
King Fahad Road

P.O. Box - 2076

Riyadh 11451

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
Tel: +966 11 211 0737
Fax: +966 11 211 0733
WWW.swicorp.com

CR No: 1010233360

CMA License No: 12161-37

SWICORP

Albilad Capital

Smart Tower, 1st Floor
King Fahad Road

P.O. Box - 140

Riyadh

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
Tel: 920003636

Fax: +966 11 290 6299
www.albilad-capital.com
CR No: 1010240489
CMA License No: 08100-37

L)
Albilad Capikal -

Alluhaid & Alyahya Chartered
Accountants "L&Y"”

2526 Abo Bakr Al Siddig Road
Al Taawun district

P.O Box 85453

Riyadh 11691

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Tell: 4966 11 269 4419

Fax: +966 11 269 3516
www.lyca.com.sa

Ii'l ALLUHAID & ALYAHYA
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Property Manager

AKEED Real Estate For Marketing &
Development Co.

Office Building Gate A2, 1st Floor
Riyadh Gallery Mall

P.O. Box - 640

Riyadh 11321

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Tel: +966 11 207 8792-93

Fax: +966 11 207 8101
www.akeed-sa.com
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Leasing & Marketing

Wabel Alarabia for Investment Co.
Office Building Gate A2, 1st Floor
Riyadh Gallery Mall

P.O. Box - 640

Riyadh 11321

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Tel: +966 11 207 8100

Fax: +966 11 207 8101
www.wabelalarabia.com

Guarantor of Property Manager

WABEL A:'_JNPAEIAI' R b
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1 SWICORP WABEL REIT FUND

Swicorp Wabel REIT Fund (the “REIT”) is a Shariah compliant closed
ended real estate investment traded fund licensed by the CMA pursuant
to authorization number (18/147/5/3/u=) and listed on the Saudi Stock
Exchange ("Tadawul”).

The REIT operates in accordance to the Real Estate Investment Funds
Regulations (“"REIFR”) and Real Estate Investment Traded Funds
("REITF") Instructions issued by the CMA.

The principal investment objective of the REIT is to invest in income
generating real estate assets primarily within the Kingdom of Saudi
Arabia and distribute at least 90% of the REIT's net profit annually to
the unitholders of the REIT. The REIT may invest in under construction
real estate assets, financial securities, and other assets bearing that at
least 75% of the REIT's total assets value shall be invested in developed
real estate qualified to generate periodic rental income. Further, the
Fund will not invest in raw lands.

For more detailed information on the investment risks involved in the
REIT, please read the REIT’s Terms & Conditions.

2 OVERVIEW OF INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES OF
THE REIT

The REIT was listed on Tadawul on 06th August 2018 with an initial
capital of SAR 1,180 million and no debt. The initial capital of the REIT
was used for the acquisition of its initial portfolio of assets comprising
four shopping malls from Wabel Al Arabia for Investment Company
(“Wabel”) and respective land owners (collectively “Founders”). The four
shopping malls owned by the REIT are located in Riyadh, Tabouk, Hafr
Al Batin, and Dawadmi. Each of these four malls is complete,
operational, and generating periodic rental income.

Of the total capital of the REIT upon formation, 30% was subscribed by
Public investors and 3% by the Fund Manager in cash as part of the
initial public offering ("IPO") of the REIT. This cash amount equivalent to
33% of the total initial capital of the REIT (i.e. SAR 389.4 million) was
paid as cash consideration to the Founders for acquisition of the initial
portfolio of assets by the REIT from the Founders with the balance
consideration equivalent to 67% of the total initial capital of the REIT
(i.e. SAR 790.6 million) paid as units in the REIT to the Founders pro-
rata to their respective shareholding in the assets acquired.

For the period from 01st January 2019 to 31st December 2019, the REIT
declared a dividend of SAR 50.74 million to its unit holders on 16 April
2020 to be paid by 17 May 2020. This translates into a dividend per unit
of SAR 0.43 and a yield of 4.3% based on the offer price per unit of SAR
10.

The Fund Manager procured a debt facility amounting to a total of SAR
1.4 billion for the REIT from NCB on 26%™ June 2019 to leverage the
balance sheet of the REIT and provide cash funding to help grow its
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assets base. The debt facility, once fully deployed, is expected to more
than double the asset base of the REIT along with potentially improving
the earnings and distribution per unit of the REIT.

The Fund Manager has a healthy pipeline of potential deals which are
currently being reviewed and evaluated for the REIT with primary
considerations about quality of target assets, credit worthiness of
counter parties, longer term lower risk tenancy agreements, and
attractive valuations among others.

Thanks to the debt facility being procured for the REIT as well as the
potential deals being evaluated, significant investments are expected to
be made for the REIT during the year 2020 with potential for
improvement in earnings and distributions for the REIT.

However, the REIT may also face significant challenges relating to both
performance of its existing assets as well as acquisition of new assets
due to the ongoing Covid-19 global pandemic which is having seriously
negative economic impact on the economies around the world including
the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and hence creating uncertainty about the
performance of the REIT for year 2020. Extensive safety measures have
been taken across the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia by the Government
including lockdowns, travel restrictions, and social distancing among
others which are creating significant challenges for asset managers to
achieve optimal performance of their assets under management.

3 ASSETS PORTFOLIO OF THE REIT

The current assets portfolio of the REIT comprises of four malls as listed
in the table below along with their respective acquisition price and land
ownership status:

Description S

ownership

1 Al Makan Mall - Dawadmi Leasehold 166.8 14.1%
2 Al Makan Mall - Hafr Al Batin Freehold 470.2 39.8%
3 Al Makan Mall - Tabouk Freehold 219.4 18.6%
4 Al Makan Mall - Riyadh Freehold 323.6 27.4%

Total 1,180 100%
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The following diagram highlights the geographic location of the four
assets across the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia:

Following chart provides a comparison of the acquisition price for each
asset against the latest estimated market value of each asset at the end
of year 2019 based on the average of estimated values for each asset
by two independent professional valuation firms:

Market Value vs. Acquisition Price

460.6

152.4
166.8

Dawadmi Hafar Al Batin Tabouk Riyadh

B Marketvalue B Acquisition price

The overall estimated market value of the assets portfolio of the REIT at
the end of year 2019 was around 6.6% lower than the total acquisition
price of those assets.

Following chart highlights the composition of the assets portfolio of the
REIT at the end of year 2019 based on estimated market value for each
asset:
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Portfolio Composition by Market Value

® Dawadmi ® Hafar Al Batin ® Tabouk ® Riyadh

Leasehold assets value was 13.8% of the total assets value of the
portfolio of the REIT at the end of year 2019 based on estimated market
values for the assets.
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3.1 AL MAKAN MALL

Description
Location
Asset class
Completion
Acquisition
No. of outlets
Land area
BuA

GLA

Occupancy rate

Contracts validity*

2 /
- 5

1. As of 31 December 2019

- DAWADMI

Community shopping centre

Al Dawadmi town - Riyadh Province
Retail

Year 2015

Year 2018

113

72,678 sgm

37,318 sgm

27,206 sgm
83%

s No. of

contracts

Tenor

(Years) sqm %

>10 6,737 30% 2

5-10 8,860 399, 9

2-5 152 1% 1

6,858 30% 71

Location

24°32'38.63"N 44°26'23.30"E

swo [ DA
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@
-~ homecentre :!(-.i-mn’\.‘\\.?‘h t.l."‘gu
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L s 00D B

©

centrepoint

Selected anchor

[ A



S W1l CORFP

3.2

AL MAKAN MALL

Description
Location

Asset class
Completion
Acquisition

No. of outlets

] Land area
£
0 BuA
0
-
GLA

Occupancy rate

Contracts validity*

1. As of 31 December 2019

- HAFR AL BATIN

Community shopping centre

Hafr Al Batin town — Eastern Province

Retail
Year 2016
Year 2018
179

126,700 sgm

98,374 sgm
62,458 sgm
68%
Tenor (el No. of
(Years) sqm % contracts
>10 30% 2
41% 14
4% °
26% 94
.§ ; J“~ 3 o5 \'}_

=~ homecentre

I
°
r=
[%]
c
g
o v
9
-1
1%
9
[}
]

28°21'27.87"N 45°57'42.92"E
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@
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centrepoint
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3.3 AL MAKAN MALL

Description
Location

Asset class
Completion
Acquisition

No. of outlets

] Land area
£
0 BuA
0
-
GLA

Occupancy rate

Contracts validity*

1. As of 31 December 2019

- TABOUK

Community shopping centre
Tabouk city — Tabouk Province
Retail

Year 2016

Year 2018

83

21,596 sgm

44,198 sgm

20,735 sgm

68%

Tenor GLA No. of

(Years) sqm % contracts

>10 20% 2

39% 9
5% 5
37% 53

Location

28°24'19.63"N 36°32'41.67"E

amc Terranova #M

& snn SEPHORA
sk LUEAGE m

CALLIOPE

-
o
b
[
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3.4 AL MAKAN MALL

Description
Location

Asset class
Completion
Acquisition

No. of outlets

] Land area
£
0 BuA
0
-
GLA

Occupancy rate

Contracts validity*

1. As of 31 December 2019

- RIYADH

Community shopping centre
Riyadh city - Riyadh Province
Retail

Year 2016

Year 2018

72

37,293 sgm

49,963 sgm

30,041 sgm

96%

Tenor s

(Years) sqm %

>10 25%,
58%

1%

16%

Location

13 a

s CINEMAS Lot

ﬁ .

cw :

§§ @ alkg
]

E § Ccliymax

@

Tara Center  Sport 1

No. of
contracts

24°47'26.75"N  46°36'42.03"E

Terranova 7“/”

©

centrepoint
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4 LEASED VS. UNLEASED REAL ESTATE ASSETS OF
THE REIT

All four assets of the REIT during the year 2019 (i.e. 100% of the assets
portfolio) were complete, operational, leased, and income generating.
The REIT did not own any real estate assets during the year 2019 which
were unleased or under development.

13
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5 FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS OF THE REIT FOR
YEAR 2019

Following table provides a snapshot of the key financial parameters of
the REIT based on audited financials and performance of the REIT for
year 2019 (in comparison to year 2018):

Parameters (figures in SAR) FY 2019 FY 2018
Total assets at year end 1,186,668,145 1,148,796,840

Net asset value at year end 1,149,508,173 1,122,075,619

Issued units 118,000,000 118,000,000
(Na(attczaossie):t value per unit at year end 9.74 9.51
(Nf(;’?ransqs:rtkgil\l;laelupee)r unit at year end 9.86 9.51

Net asset value at inception 1,180,000,000 1,180,000,000
Net asset value per unit at inception 10 10
Dividend distribution 50,740,0003 31,860,000?
Dividend distribution per unit 0.43 0.27
Total income 103,884,266 70,272,488
Net income before non-cash items 70,086,878 45,591,548
g:: l|Jnncifc)me before non-cash items 0.59 0.39
Net income after non-cash items 59,292,554 -57,924,381
lIjlre]:ittincome after non-cash items per 0.50 -0.49
Funds from operations 51,927,952 45,591,548
Borrowing 0 0
Borrowing as percent of total assets 0.00% 0.00%
Expenses ratio* 3.02% 2.13%
Highest NAV per unit 9.746 10.00°
Lowest NAV per unit 9.308 9.517

1. From 06™ August 2018 (listing date) to 31% December 2018 [first year of

operations]

2. Declared on 11%* March 2019, paid on 31 March 2019
3. Declared on 16 April 2020, to be paid by 17 May 2020

4. Total expenses for the period including zakat and excluding non-cash items
divided by total assets value at end of the period

5. At inception

14
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6. On 31st December 2019
7. On 31st December 2018
8. On 31st March 2019

6 TOTAL RETURNS

Following table summarizes the total returns of the REIT for one (1),
three (3), and five (5) years or since inception:

Since

Based on book
value of NAV 2.42%, N.A N.A -2.60%
per unit

Based on fair
value of NAV 3.68% N.A N.A -1.40%
per unit

1. From 06th August 2018 (listing date) to 31st December 2019

7 ANNUAL RETURNS

Following table summarizes the total annual returns of the REIT for the
last ten (10) years or since inception:

Based on book

Based on fair value

Year value of I_‘IAV per of NAV per unit
unit

2009 N.A N.A
2010 N.A N.A
2011 N.A N.A
2012 N.A N.A
2013 N.A N.A
2014 N.A N.A
2015 N.A N.A
2016 N.A N.A
2017 N.A N.A
2018t -4.90% -4.90%
2019 2.42% 3.68%
Since inception? -2.60% -1.40%

1. From 06th August 2018 (listing date) to 31st December 2018
2. From 06th August 2018 (listing date) to 31st December 2019

15
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8 DETAILS OF FEES AND EXPENSES PAID TO
EXTERNAL PARTIES

Following table provides details of fees and expenses paid by the REIT to
external parties during the year 2019 including zakat charge (in
comparison to year 2018):

Parameters (figures in SAR) FY 2019 FY 2018

Fund management fee 8,506,286 6,473,836
Custody fee 546,525 215,795
Property related expenses 22,331,130 12,872,568
Establishment fee 0 4,269,371
Other fees and expenses 4,394,272 623,039
Total expenses excluding depreciation 35,778,213 24,454,609
Depreciation charges 37,734,861 20,508,715
Total expenses including depreciation 73,513,074 44,963,324
Total expenses excluding depreciation as
a percent of total assets 3.02% 2:13%
Total expenses including depreciation as

6.19% 3.91%

a percent of total assets

1. From 06th August 2018 (listing date) to 31st December 2019

16
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9 MATERIAL CHANGES DURING THE YEAR
2019

Following is a summary of the material changes which occurred during
the year 2019 relating to the REIT:

On 11% March 2019 (corresponding to 04/07/1440H), the REIT
announced the distribution of cash dividend to the unit holders
for the period starting from 6th August 2018 (Listing date) to
31st December 2018 (147 days)

On 19% March 2019 (corresponding to 12/07/1440H), the REIT
announced the availability of the semi-annual assets valuation
reports for the second half of 2018 for the public

On 31t March 2019 (corresponding to 24/07/1440H), the REIT
announced the availability of the annual financial statements for
the period ending on 31 December 2018

On 31t March 2019 (corresponding to 24/07/1440H), the REIT
announced the availability of the quarterly factsheet for the
period ended on 31 March 2018

On 8™ May 2019 (corresponding to 03/09/1440H), the REIT
announced the availability of the annual report as of 31
December 2018

On 30% June 2019 (corresponding to 27/10/1440H), the REIT
announced obtaining a SAR 1.4Bn Shariah Compliant Debt
Facility from The National Commercial Bank

On 9% July 2019 (corresponding to 06/11/1440H), the REIT
announced the availability of semi-annual assets valuation
reports for the first half of 2019

On 10™ July 2019 (corresponding to 07/11/1440H), the REIT
announced the availability of thee quarterly statement for the
period ending on 30 June 2019

On 20™ August 2019 (corresponding to 19/12/1440H), the REIT
announced the availability of the interim financial report for Fund
for the period ending on 30 June 2019

On 18™" September 2019 (corresponding to 19/01/1441H),
following resignation of the following two board members of the
REIT was announced:

o Saud Mansour Al Tassan (Non-independent member)
o Abdullah Hamad Al Salloom (Non-Independent)

Also, on 18™ September 2019 (corresponding to 19/01/1441H),
following appointment of the following two new board members
of the REIT was announced:

o Daniel Schenker (Non-Independent)
o Hammad Mughal (Non-Independent)

On 26™ September 2019 (corresponding to 27/01/1441H), the
REIT announced an update to the Fund’s Terms and Conditions

17
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On 13% October 2019 (corresponding to 14/02/1441H), the REIT
announced the availability of the quarterly statement for the
period ending on 30 September 2019

On 4™ November 2019 (corresponding to 07/03/1441H), the
REIT announced an update to the Fund’s Terms and Conditions.

On 15% December 2019 (corresponding to 18/04/1441H), the
REIT announced commencement of the procedures of registering
with the General Authority for Zakat and Income for the purpose
of Zakat

10 BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE REIT -
SUMMARY OF MEETINGS HELD AND
RESOLUTIONS APPROVED DURING THE
YEAR 2019

The Board of Directors of the REIT (“"Board”) met twice during the year
2019 and following topics were discussed:

Summary of support secured from Wabel Alarabia For
Investment

2018 performance review and 2019 forecast

Secured financing terms

Brief of targeted assets for acquisition and statues

Description of the resolutions to be approved by the Board
Current REIT Situation in 2019

Current Wabel Alarabia For Investment Situation

New Agreements Structure with Wabel Alarabia For Investment
Proposed Changes to the Fund T&C

Current Situation regarding to NCB CP’s

Briefing by the Head of Compliance of the Fund Manager to the
Board

Following table lists down and summarizes the resolutions approved by
the Board of Directors of the REIT during the year 2019:

Resolution Resolution . . ..
Brief description
number date

No. 03-2019 14/03/2019

= Approval of REIT's Terms and
Conditions amendments

Approval of the Fund assets
valuation reports for 2018

= Approval of the Fund audited

18



S W1l CORFP

No. 04-2019

No. 05-2019

No. 06-2019

26/05/2019

22/10/2019

22/10/2019

financial statements for 2018

Approval to obtaining of a bank
financing facility from the
National Commercial Bank (NBC)
for the fund in the amount of
SAR 1,400,000,000

Approval of the Support and
settlement agreements signed
with Wabel Alarabia For
Investment

Approval of the cash distribution
to the unit holders for the period
of 2018G

Approval of the term sheet for
potential acquisitions of real
estate assets by the fund

Approval of the appointment of a
new facility manager to replace
the current facility manager

Approval of the Fund to pay
Zakat on behalf of the unit
holders for 2018.

Approving the authorization of
the Chief Executive Officer "CEOQ”
of Swicorp Mr. Daniel Schenker
to sign on behalf of the Fund
Manager in all transactions with
Apex, the "Sub-Manager" of
Swicorp Wabel REIT.

Approval of the authorization of
the Chief Executive Officer “"CEQO”
Mr. Daniel Schenker of Swicorp
to open new bank accounts, or
new investment accounts for the
fund and open and/or sign any
other related contracts on behalf
of the fund

Approval of pledging Swicorp
Wabel REIT Fund properties for
National Commercial Bank *NCB”
and transferring ownership of
assets to subsidiaries of Bank as

19
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No. 07-2019 22/10/2019

No. 08-2019 12/12/2019

11 SOFT COMMISSIONS

a mortgage.

Approval to delegate Mr.
Abdullah Saud Al-Kulaibi to
mortgage and transferring
ownership of three of the fund
properties

Approval of the authorized
person has the right to delegate
others with regard to the
authority to transfer ownership
and mortgage of the three
properties

The appointment of Mr. Bandar
Fayeh Alotaibi instead of Mr.
Abdullah Hamad Al Salloom as
(“Issuer Representative”) along
with Mr. Abdullah Saud Al Kulaibi
who has been appointed
previously on behalf of Swicorp
Wabel REIT Fund in front of the
Saudi Stock exchange (Tdawaul),

Approval to authorized selected
persons mentioned in the
resolution to sign on behalf of
the Fund on all transactions in
relation to the Fund’s bank
account with National
Commercial Bank

Fund Manager did not receive any soft commissions relating to the REIT

during the year 2019.
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12 RISK ASSESSMENT REPORT

Name Swicorp Wabel REIT Fund

Tenure 99 years

Type Close ended REIT Fund listed on Tadawul
Listing date 06th August 2018

Risk level High

During the course of its operations, the REIT as well as the real estate
assets in its portfolio are exposed to a range of potential risks. In case
of any of those risks materializing, the performance and financial health
of the REIT may be materially impacted. All potential investors must
carefully evaluate the risks pertaining to the REIT against their specific
individual objectives and circumstances and avail professional
investment and legal advice before investing in the units of the REIT.

The Fund Manager has a robust risk management function guided by
internal procedures, processes, and systems to carefully identify and
manage potential risks with the aim of minimizing potential negative
impact of those risks on the financial and operational performance and
health of the REIT. The potential risks facing the REIT include, but are
not limited to, the following:

Potential
risks

Description

Mitigation measures

The pandemic has caused
business shutdown due to
COoVID-19 lockdown and curfew across
risk the world. Which ultimately
created significant damage to
the demand side.

Swicorp has issued several disclosures
regarding the potential impact of this
pandemic. The disclosure can be read by
visiting the below site:

http://swicorpwabelreit.com/en/?open=1

Oversupply as a result of an

increase in the Shopping Mall The fund manager is considering

Shopping Mall area space or declining developing a risk indicator to gauge this
performance demand as result of risk. Such as foot traffic, afterward limits
risk contractionary fiscal policy or and thresholds will be adopted for the

Property type
concentration
risk

the increasing adoption of
online shopping by consumers

The fund is currently fully
exposed to only single type of
real estate sector which is
Shopping Mall. In the
presence of full concentration,
the fund is exposed to any
form of Systemic risk which
can be offset by

purpose of monitoring, reporting and
escalation.

As per the T&C, the fund manager is not
restricted to property investment in
specific real estate sector. Thus future
acquisitions could be directed toward
other sectors such as residential,
industrial or hospitality.
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Liquidity risk

Capital
Funding Risk

Yield Risk

Development
risk

Interest Risk

diversification.

Loss of market value at the
time of property sell off due
to weak market liquidity

Since the fund pay out ratio is
90% by regulations, the fund
will always be seeking raising
capital for expansion purpose.
The threat of funding difficulty
could curtail fund's
performance and hence
Swicorp’s reputation.

Deteriorating fund's yield can
be a cause of internal or an
external factors. Determining
the factors can help explain
the type of risk the fund is
running into in general.

There are development risks
associated with real estate
projects under development,
which include (1) delays in
the completion of work in a
timely manner, (2) cost
overruns, (3) inability to
obtain rental contracts at
targeted returns, and (4)
force majeure resulting from
factors outside the control of
the Fund relating to the
construction sector (including
poor weather and
environment conditions and
shortage of building materials
in the market) the matter
which hinders the completion
of  development  projects
which may affect  the
profitability and/or financial
viability of the project and
lead to inability to meet the
revenue expectations upon
completion

Uncertainty of increase in cost
of funding due to increase in

interest rate volatility
impacting the fund’s net
income

The fund manager has a detailed process
and methodology in the Fund's operating
manual to be used as a guidance in the
event of asset liquidation or acquisition.
Furthermore, the investment properties
are tested for impairment at each
reporting date to assess the
recoverability of the asset -carrying
amount. when there is indication that
the carrying amount exceeds the
recoverable amount the asset will be
impaired and loss will be recorded via
the statement of comprehensive income.

Currently the fund manager has
successfully secured a financing
arrangement of SAR 1.4 Billion worth of
credit line for the purpose of the asset
acquisition.

The fund manager quarterly assesses
the fund's performance by carrying out a
comparison analysis in relation to other
fund's yield. The purpose of the analysis
is to wunderline whether the fund
deteriorating performance is due to
systemic or idiosyncratic risks.

As per the T&C the fund has to maintain
at all time a minimum of 75% in the
form of an already developed income
generating properties out of the total
asset pool. This will limit fund exposure
to investing in asset which s
underdevelopment, hence will mitigate
the development risk. During 2019, the
fund did not take on any development
activities.

Upon acquiring new asset via debt
financing, the fund manager will
regularly perform a sensitivity analysis in
order to highlight instances on which the
fund's performance could have been
negatively impacted by the increase in
the cost of funding.
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Inflation risk

Tenant Credit
risk

Tenant
Turnover risk

Lease
vacancy risk

Tenant
Concentration
risk by rental
income

Tenant
default risk

Tenant
downgrade
risk

Counterparty

Impaired fund performance as
result of an increase in the
general price level across the
economy

Impaired fund performance as
result of tenants not meeting
or paying rent by the time it
is due

Weak Tenant retention which
can cause variability in the
rental income, thus negatively
impacting fund's performance

Loss due to the opportunity
cost of a vacant leased area
space for an extended period
of time

Rental income dependent on
a single or few large tenants

Loss in rental income due to
tenant inability to pay

Based on an internal
assessment of the fund
manager, a tenant once
downgraded increases
chances of fund's specific risk

Fund's exposure to
investments not under

Almost 30% of the tenants’ contracts
have an incremental rent pricing on
annual basis. The rest of the contracts
are constant, however on average the
rent price per square meter for constant
contracts is higher than the incremental
one. Thus, the pricing mechanism for
constant contracts takes into account
potential future inflationary risk.

The fund adheres to IFRS for financial
reporting purpose, accordingly
provisioning will be computed as per
IFRS 9 for any outstanding credit
amount. Furthermore, the fund manager
has developed a credit rating system to
be used to provide more insight on the
current tenant quality. Determining the
quality of the tenant will further help to
mitigate this risk by highlighting tenant
which should be subject to eviction or
retention. In addition, current agreement
between fund manager and property
manager dictates the maximum tolerable
outstanding receivable amount at any
point of time. In case the amount is
breached the property manager must
immediately work on reducing the
receivables below the tolerable
threshold.

The risk is under monitoring scope of the
fund manager.

An occupancy threshold between fund
and property manager has been agreed
upon and is part of the terms of the
agreement.  Accordingly, the Fund
Manager monitors threshold on
continuous basis.

The fund manager has devised a
threshold for the purpose of monitoring
and mitigating this should it occur.

The Fund Manager has specified in the
agreement that overdue for greater than
90 days are automatically regarded as
delinquent balances. This will
automatically trigger a set of corrective
actions. Among these actions are legal
litigation in addition to the fact that the
property manager may not be entitled to
either part or whole compensations in
case of failure to recover the dues.

The fund manager has devised a
threshold for the purpose of monitoring
and mitigating this should it occur.

To mitigate this risk, the fund manager
adheres to fund's Terms and conditions
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risk

Operating
expense risk

Compliance
risk

Acquisition
risk

Property
manager risk

Process risk

Expropriation
risks

Absence of an
authorized
personnel risk

Location
Concertation
risks

management of the fund
manager

An increase to the physical
assets operating or running
expenses will ultimately
impact fund's bottom line,
thus performance.

Non adherence to the fund's
regulatory framework as set
forth by the Regulator can
have different negative
implications to the fund.
Among these risks,
disqualifying fund's issued
traded units from trading on
the exchange.

The uncertainty that the fund
manager will be making the
right acquisition which could
undermine the unit holders
return.

The fund's physical asset is
managed by a third party. In
the event the property
manager fails to carry out its
responsibilities as set out in
the agreement, it can lead to
unnecessary distortion to the
operation process of the
fund's physical asset. Thus,
impairing fund's performance.

Critical processes which the
fund manager has to
undertake regularly for the
fund's smooth functioning

The risk that the government

forcibly takes over the
ownership of a privately
owned property

Absence of an authorized

personnel risk

Properties which are fully
concentrated in a single
location could be exposed to
greater market risk

which specifies that the maximum
exposure to such type of risk should be
no greater than 25% out of the fund's
gross asset.

To mitigate this risk the Fund Manager
and the Property manager have agreed
on an operating expense ceiling. For
Additional expense, the fund manager
will not be obligated for reimbursement.
However for future acquisitions, there is
no guarantee that the fund manager will
be able to secure the same term of
business for the newly acquired
property.

The fund manager has a dedicated
compliance resource in addition to a
controlling procedure to make sure the
fund is in full adherence to the Terms
and Conditions.

To add extra focus and mitigate this risk,
the fund board is provided details of all
due diligence conducted.

The fund manager has devised a
threshold for the purpose of monitoring
and mitigating this risk should it occur.
In addition the fund manager at his sole
discretion can terminate the contractual
relationship with the property manager
at any time, provided a 90 days advance
notice is issued advising the property
manager by the same.

The fund Manager shares the list of
processes with the Risk Management
Office, hence the Risk Management
prioritize these processes for review
based on criticality. The review outcome
will be a set of recommendation based
on the following:

1-Data integrity and
2-Succession

3-Efficiency and productivity.

accuracy
planning

This is an idiosyncratic risk which its
outcome nor can be predicted neither its
impact can be determined presently.

Fund manager is committed to an up to
date succession planning which is
regularly verified by the Internal Auditor

The fund's underlying asset exposure is
well diversified across four different
areas
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Litigation risk

Zakat and
Taxation risks

Leasehold risk

Related party
credit risk

Related party
settlement
risk

Litigation risk is the possibility
that legal action will be
taken against the fund

Zakat and Taxation risk is the
chance that Zakat and Tax
rules may change resulting in
losses due to higher than
expected taxes

Out of the four properties
owned by the fund, one is a
leasehold not a freehold.
Chances of this leasehold not
being renewed or renewed at
relatively expensive terms
could have a negative impact
on the fund's performance

Inability to collect dues from
a related party

Related part failure to deliver
or pay what is owed to the
fund

This is an idiosyncratic risk that is
difficult to assume and it also expected
and accepted as part of the course of
any business.

The fund manager closely keeps track of
major economic fiscal development and
accordingly discount Zakat and Taxation
relevant scenarios into the fund's annual
budget.

Unlike the other freehold properties
which are depreciated over 25 years, the
leasehold property is depreciated based
on the remaining land lease period. The
leasehold agreement is to expire in 17
years on December 2036. As such, in
case of a non-renewal to the land lease.
The concerned property will be fully
depreciated. In the event the leasehold
is renewed at an expensive terms, based
on IFRS the fund manager will capitalize
the value of the operating lease by
calculating its present value. Thus an
asset will be recognized at a higher value
reflecting the new pricier lease terms.
The fund has a credit exposure to Wabel
Alarabia For Investment Company who is
a related party by being a major unit
holder and a service provider to the fund
through its property management
company Akeed. The credit exposure is
due to Wabel Alarabia For investment
Company collecting rents in its own
account on behalf of Swicorp Wabel
REIT. As such the rent collected
continue to be credited to the related
party's bank account not the fund one.
To mitigate this interim risk the fund
manager seeks balance confirmation
with the related party on a monthly basis
to confirm the amount of collected rents.
Furthermore, the Fund manager initiated
the process of transferring the lease
agreements to SWICORP WABEL REIT as
of Q4 2019

As of this report’s date, the related party
exposure belonging to Wabel Investment
Company as shown in the 31 December
2019 financials, has been totally settled.
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13 MARKET OVERVIEW AND OUTLOOK

13.1 MACROECONIC OVERVIEW

Macroeconomic conditions in Saudi Arabia experienced a significant
positive impact from the non-oil sector underpinned by the success of
the Kingdom at achieving sustainable economic growth through the
expansion of non-oil segments of the economy thanks to various
economic and social reforms programs and initiatives led by the
Government under the Kingdom’s vision 2030.

Non-oil sector registered a growth of 2.5% during H1-2019 according to
the Ministry of Finance of Saudi Arabia. However, this was partly off-set
by negative impact of oil sector GDP contraction due to relatively low oil
prices and softening of demand. The net impact of the above means
overall GDP is forecast to register growth of -0.1% in 2019 (compared
to +2.4% in 2018) as per Oxford Economics.

The increase in economic activity levels in the non-oil segments of the
economy helped reduce the overall unemployment rate in the Kingdom
slightly to around 5.8% in 2019. During 2019, overall inflation was
negative (-1.4%) as impact of application of VAT and removal of
government subsidies on various items subsided.

In the shadows of continued economic uncertainty, both globally and
regionally, the Kingdom announced a budget of SAR 1.02 trillion for
2020 which is 2.7% lower from the estimates for 2019. Though the
budget is marginally conservative, Government of the Kingdom remains
committed to supporting implementation of the goals of Vision 2030 by
achieving fiscal stability and socioeconomic development through
expanded role of the private sector.

Overall macroeconomic conditions in the Kingdom remain challenging
and it may take some time for the market to rebound to the buoyancy
observed before 2014 oil price crash. However, despite the challenges
and spending cuts by the Government, ongoing major developments are
expected to have a significant positive impact on the economic
performance of the Kingdom over the medium to long run.

13.2 REAL ESTATE MARKET OVERVIEW

Conditions in the real estate market across the Kingdom showed slight
improvement during 2019 but remain challenging across all the sectors
with continuing pressures on occupancy and average rents. As per the
data published by the General Authority for Statistics of Saudi Arabia,
the general real estate index for the Kingdom improved slightly from
80.4 at the end of 2018 to 80.8 at the end of 2019. This slight
improvement was driven mainly by residential sector with residential
real estate index improving from 82.7 to 83.3 while commercial real
estate index dropped slightly from 74.7 to 74.6 during the same period.
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As per the data published by the Ministry of Justice of Saudi Arabia, the
total value of real estate transactions in 2019 increased to SAR 179.4
billion compared to SAR 142.9 billion in 2018 which is an increase of
around 26%. The number of real estate transactions also increased from
213,666 in 2018 to 321,716 in 2019 which is an increase of around
50%. The average size of real estate transactions dropped from SAR
668,693 in 2018 to SAR 557,635 in 2019 which is a drop of around
17%.

As per the prime rental clock published by JLL in its KSA Real Estate
Market Report for 2019, it is indicated that rents across all major real
estate sectors (i.e. residential, retail, offices, and hotels) may be
approaching bottom levels at the end of 2019 across the major cities
including Riyadh, Jeddah, Makkah and Dammam/Khobar. The only
exception to the above seems to be offices and hotel rents in
Dammam/Khobar which seem to be still some way from the bottom and
may face further downward pressures during 2020.

The Government is currently undertaking a number of measures to
improve real estate market conditions across the Kingdom including:

= taking a leading role in development of several mega real estate
projects in the Kingdom (e.g. Neom, Al Oula Project, Al Qiddiyya
Project, The Red Sea Project etc.)

= promoting affordable housing developments across the Kingdom

= imposition of white land tax to encourage raw lands development
in the municipal areas

* increasing loan to value ratio for home loans
= major initiatives to increase the number of religious tourists

= initiatives to promote domestic tourism with large number of
events planned and organized under the Entertainment Authority

These initiatives along with projected improvements in macroeconomic
conditions are expected to help improve real estate market conditions in
the Kingdom going forward.

13.3 RETAIL MARKET OVERVIEW

Retail market in the Kingdom has been witnessing strong headwinds in
recent years due to a combination of factors including supply
outstripping demand in most major cities across the Kingdom,
challenging macroeconomic conditions faced since oil price decline of
2014 and resulting decline in retail spending particularly by lower
income households, departure of a large number of expatriate families
due to the imposition of expatriate family levy, and increased
operational costs due to regulatory changes among other factors.

These challenging conditions have resulted in decline in occupancy levels
in the retail properties, decline in average rents, and collection issues
due to the lower business volumes for retailers. This has also resulted in
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slowing down development of major new retail malls across the
Kingdom.

However, a bright spot in the retail sector of the Kingdom during recent
years has been the return of cinemas in the Kingdom. With first cinemas
opening in King Abdullah Financial District and Riyadh Park Mall, both in
Riyadh, most big global names in the cinema business including AMC
and Vox have entered into strong local partnerships with plans to open
hundreds of cinemas across the Kingdom over the coming years.
Majority of these planned developments are in major shopping malls
across the Kingdom which is expected to drive up the footfall in those
malls with resulting positive impact on the overall sales density of the
malls and potential improvements in occupancy levels and average
rents.

Year 2019 saw significant progress towards achievement of the
expansion plans of various players in the cinemas sector with a total of
12 additional multiplexes opening in Riyadh, Jeddah, and Dammam by
leading players including VOX Cinemas, AMC Cinemas, and MUVI
Cinemas.

13.3.1 RETAIL MARKET - RIYADH

Retail market in Riyadh experienced significant supply expansion during
the year 2019 with the addition of new destinations like Riyadh Front,
Hammad Mall (LAVALLE), Shorofat Al Khair, Garden Wood and Mercato
Strip Mall. These new developments added an additional 89,000 sgm of
GLA to the retail supply in Riyadh taking the total retail space in the city
to around 2.4 million sgm.

Depending on the progress of construction and development, another
230,000 sgm of retail space is scheduled for completion during 2020.
Notable projects under development include Shorofat Al Nada Park,
Wadi Qurtoba, Faisaliah Mall Extension.

Average occupancy rates for retail across the city declined from around
85% at the end of year 2018 to around 83% at the end of year 2019
with average rents also facing downward pressures particularly in
regional and community malls driven probably by increased supply of
retail space and lack of demand growth.

13.3.2 RETAIL MARKET - TABOUK

Retail market in Tabouk also remained challenging like across the
Kingdom with pressures on occupancy levels and average rents as well
as collections issues. The number of major malls in the city remained
unchanged at four. The per capita malls GLA in Tabouk remains
relatively low at around 0.2sgm/capita compared to more than
0.4sgm/capita in Riyadh and hence the challenges in retail market of
Tabouk mainly relate to weaker demand rather than an over supply of
retail space.
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13.3.3 RETAIL MARKET - HAFR AL BATIN

Due to the relatively small population of Hafr Al Batin town (around
270,000), the retail sector of the town relied, to a significant extent, on
the presence of armed forces and their families in a nearby major
military base. Due to the deployment of a large proportion of those
armed forces toward the southern borders of the Kingdom, the retail
sector has been experiencing declining sales densities. Additionally, a
new major mall is nearing completion in the town which will almost
double the retail mall space in the town and hence create further
competitive pressures for the rest of the retail sector in the town.

13.3.4 RETAIL MARKET - DAWADMI

Dawadmi is a relatively small town of just over 50,000 population about
two hours drive from Riyadh with only one major mall. There were no
new developments during 2019 neither any seen in the pipeline. General
conditions remained challenging for the retail sector in Dawadmi during
2019 like the rest of the Kingdom with pressures on occupancy rates,
average rents, and collections due to relatively week sales densities.

13.4 MARKET OUTLOOK

Real estate market conditions across the Kingdom are expected to
remain challenging during 2020 with additional pressure expected on
average rents and possibly occupancy levels due to expected new supply
during the year particularly in large cities like Riyadh.

Additionally, the outbreak of Covid-19 pandemic towards the end of
2019 is expected to have a significant negative impact on the retail
sector in the Kingdom during 2020 with retail malls closed by the
Government for around one and half month during March and April 2020
as a precautionary measure to stop the spread of the pandemic in the
Kingdom. Additionally, even after the Government allowing the malls to
open and start operations again, the prudence and precaution by
shoppers may have a significant negative impact on footfalls and sales
densities of retailers which in turn may put pressure on the mall owners
to provide rental relief and discounts to tenants to retain occupancy
levels.

However, such impact is expected to be temporary and market
conditions are expected to normalize once the pandemic subsides and
precautionary restrictions removed.

In the medium term, market conditions are expected to improve thanks
to improving macroeconomics driven by expansion of non-oil sector,
major government led real estate development projects which are
expected to create large number of employment opportunities, and
initiatives to promote domestic tourism with the aim to retain a
significant portion of billions of dollars which the Saudi population spend
every year abroad.
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The number of REITs listed on Tadawul has been increasing gradually
and the trend is expected to continue. This will mean increasing
competition for quality real estate assets for acquisition and investment.
Prudent planning, strong sourcing ability, careful transaction analysis,
and thorough due diligence would be key to identify and capitalize on
the attractive opportunities which may arise going forward. Particular
attention will need to be paid towards targeting resilient sectors,
sectoral diversity, geographic diversity, credit worthiness of counter
parties, sustainable level of leverage, and appropriate lease structures
to minimize earnings volatility risk and improve distribution yield for the
investors.

Sources: (i) The KSA Real Estate Market — A Year in Review 2019 by JLL, (ii) Saudi
General Authority of Statistics, (iii) Saudi Ministry of Justice
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
TO THE UNITHOLDERS OF SWICORP WABEL REIT FUND
{Managed by SWICORP Company)
Opinlon

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of SWICORP Wabel REIT Fund (the “Fund”] being managed
by SWICORP Company (the "Fund Manager”), which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December
2018, the related statements of comprehensive income, cash flows and changes in net assets for the year then ended,
and notes to the financlal statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinien, the financial statements taken as a whole, present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the Fund as at 21 December 2019, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with the International Financial Reparting Standards [“IFRS") that are endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi
Arabia and other standards and pronouncements issued by the Saudi Organization for Certified Public Accountants
("SOCPA").

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing ["ISA") that are endorsed in the
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit af the Financial Statements section of our repert. We are independent of the Fund In
accordance with the professional code of conduct and ethies, that are endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, that
are relevant to our audit of the financlal statements and we have fulfilled our other ethical respansibilities in
sccordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficlent and
appropriate to provide a basls for our epinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
financial statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the finandal
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide & separate opinion on these
matters.

We have fuHfilled the respansibilities described in the Auditor’s FResponsibilities for the Audit of the financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements.
The results of aur audit procedures, incuding the procedures performed to address the matters betow, provide the
basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
TO THE UNITHOLDERS OF SWICORP WABEL REIT FUND

(Managed by SWICORP Company) {continued)

Key Audit Matters (continued)

Alluhaid & Alyshya Chartered Accountants

2 Taimur
ko cf

| Key Audit Matter
' Valuation of investment progerties

The Fund owns a portfolio of investment properties
comprising of commercial buildings located in the Kingdom

of Saudi Arabia,

| Investment properties, being held for capital appreciation
and/or rental yields, are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses.

losses whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impalrment loss, If any, is recognized for the amount by
which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds Its
recoverable amount.

| Investment properties are re-measured for impairment

For assessing the Impairment of investment propertles, the
Fund management monitors wolatility of fair value of
properties by engaging independent certified property
valuers to perform a formal valuation of the Fund's
investment properties on semiannual basis,

We considered this a key audit matter since the assessment
of impairment reguires significant judgment by the
management and assessed the recoverabde amount, which
is higher of falr value or value in use of the related
investrment properties based on the independent valuation
reports. The Fund's mariagement have determined that the
recoverable amount of Investment properties at the end of

the year was higher than the carrying value of the related |

investment properties and an impairment reversal of SR
45,880,973 (2018: Impairment loss SR 83,233,546) was
recognized in the statement of comprehensive income
during the year,

The Fund's policies for investment properties are disclosed
in note 5.1 ond related disclosures about the obove-

How the key matter was
| addressed in the audit |
| For Impairment of investment properties, we have :
carried out the following audit procedures:

- We assessed the independence of the external |
valuers and read their terms of engagement with the
Fund to determine whether there were any matters
that might have affected thaeir objectivity or may have |
Imposed scope limitations on their work and evaluated |
their technical capabilities and expertise; |

- We reviewed the methodology applied by the |
external valuers to ensure it is appropriate;

| - We obtained the valuation reports fram two different :
and independent real estate valuers engaged by the
Fund management for all investment properties as at |
31 Decernber 2019 and confirmed that the valuation |
approaches are sultable for use in determining the
| Carrying values as at the reporting date;

- We reconciled the average fair value of the
investment properties as per note 7 of the
accompanying financial statements to the external |
valuers’ reports; |

-We reviewed that appropriate reversal of impairment
was recognized in the statement of comprehensive |
income during the year; and |

- We have also reviewed the adequacy of the
Investment properties disclosures Included in the
accompanying financial statements. |

mentioned key oudit matter are included in notes §and 7 of |

the accompanying financia! stetements,

|

34



I C O R P

W

S

ALLUHAID & ALYAHYA

llgaa LIl

L1l
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
TO THE UNITHOLDERS OF SWICORP WABEL REIT FUND

{Managed by SWICORP Company) {continued)
Key Audit Matters [continued)

,_ Key Audit Matter

T

How the key matter was
addressed in the audit

I Implementation of IFRS 16 “Leases”

The Fund has adopted IFRS 16 *Leases" applicable onwars |
1 lanuary 2019 and this new standard supersedes tha
‘ requirements of 145 17,
Fund management performed a detailed analysis of lease
contract to determine the transition adjustments and
consequential changes to processes and contrals risquired |
particularly in connection with Identification of whether an
arrangernent meets the definition of 3 lease.

IFRS 16 principally modifies the accounting treatment of
operating leases at inception, with the recognition of right-
of-use on the lease assets and a corresponding liability for |
the discounted amount of lease payments over the term of
| lease contract, |

The Fund has chosen to apply IFRS 16 “Leases” as at 1
January 2019, accordingly, this resulted In recognition of
right-of-use assets and lease lizbilities of SR 8,534,560 as at
1 January 2019,

1
For implementation of IFRS 16 “Lease”, we have
carried out the following audit procedures: |

| - Reviewed management's assessment of the impact of |

IFRS 16 in terms of the dassification and measurement |
of its right-ofuse assets and lease Nabilities, andl
understosd  the  approach  taken towards
implementation;

| - Assessed the accuracy of the lease data captured by

the management through the inspection of lease |
documents; |

- Tested lease schedules by recalculating the amounts |
underlying the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities |
based on the terms of the lease contract. We also |
tested the arithmetical accuracy of the lease schedules
and how these adjustments applied In the |
accompanying financial statements as at 1 January |
2019,

Ire

the

Fund  man alse d the disch
requirements of the new standard to be made in
accompanying financial statements,

We considered this a key audit matter as the calculations of
amounts and application of the standard, underlying the
right-of-use assets and the corresponding lease liabilities,
requires significant management Judgement in respect to
the terms in the contracts.

1
The Fund's policies for leases and related disclosures aboue |
the above-mentioned key audit matter ore included in nate
5.15 of the accompanying financial statements, |

- d the appropriateness of the discount rates ‘
used in computation of lease liability obligatiens; and

- We have also reviewed the adequacy of the |
disclosures included in the accompanying finandal

statements in relation to the implementation of the |
new standard IFRS 16 “Leases”, |
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INDEPENDENT ALDITOR'S REPORT
TO THE UNITHOLDERS OF SWICORP WABEL REIT FUND
(Managed by SWICORP Company) [continued)

Key Audit Matters (continued)

Allubsaid & Alyshys Chartered Accountants
Licersg Mo {7351

— : e

Key Audit Matter
‘ IFRS 9 “Financial instruments” |
The Fund has adopted IFRS 9 “Financlal instruments”® with
effect from 1 January 2018, and this new standard |
supersedes the requirements of A5 39 “Financial |
Instruments — Recognition and Measurement”,

‘ IFRS 3 “Financial instruments addresses the classification, |
| measurement and derecognition of financial assets and
financial liabilities and introduces new nules for hedge
|am:untln¢ and a new impairment model for financial
assets. Management has determined that the most
significant impact of the new standard on the Fund financial
statements related to the calculation of the allowance for
| the impairment of rent receivables.

The Fund assesses at each reporting date whether the |
financial assets caried at amortized cost are credit

| impaired. The Fund‘s management has applied a simplified

expected credit loss (“ECL") method to determine the |
allowance for impairment of rent receivables, The ECL

maodel involves the use of various assumptions, macro-

econamic factors and study of historical trends and aging of [
‘ rent receivables,

As at 31 December 2019, the carrying value of the rent
receivables amounted to SR 37,199,616 (2018: 18,124,541)
after accounting for the allowance for ECL amounting to SR
6,227,315 (2018: nil).

‘ We considered this a key audit matter since the assessment |
to determine the allowance for Impairment requires
significant judgement by the Fund Manager and the |
potential impact of impairment could be material to the
financial statements. |

The Fund's palicies for impairment of financial assets held ot |
amartised cost are disclosed in note 4.3 and reloted
disclosures about the sbove-mentioned key qudit marter
are included in note § and 19.2 of the accomponying |
financial statements. |

L

How the key matter was

addressed in the audit )

For developing an understanding of the relevarmt |
business process, we have carried out the fullwlngi
audit procedures: |

- Specifically considered the validity of management’s
conclusion that the main area of impact was in respect
of rent receivables impairment, using our experience
and knowledge of similar entities:

[
- Werified whether the ECL model developed by |
management is consistent with the requirements of
IFRS 9 "Financial instruments”; |

- Tested the accuracy and completeness of underlying |
data used in the moded and the arithmetical accuracy
of the computation of ECL; :

- Assessed the appropriateness of the methedology
used in the ECL model;

- For forward looking assumptions used by the Fund's
management in (ts ECL calculations, we held |
discussions with management and corraborated the |
assumptions using publicly available Informatian;

- Tested key assumptions and judgements used by the l
management, as those used to estimate the likelihood
of default and loss on default on rent receivables, by
comparing to historical and aging data. We alse
considered the appropriateness of forward-looking
factors {macro-economic factors) used to determine
the expected credit loss; and

- We have also reviewed the adequacy of the

disclosures included in the accompanying financial |
statements in relation ta the requirements of [FRS 9 |
“Financial instruments”_
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INDEFENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE UNITHOLDERS OF SWICORP WABEL REIT FUND
(Managed by SWICORP Company) [comtinued)

Emghasis of Matter - Dividends Distribution
We draw attention to note 23 in the accompanying financial statements, as stated therein, the Fund Manager
announced to distribute dividends to the unit holders for the period from 6 August 2018 to 31 Decemnber 2018
amounting to SR 31,860,000. The Fund had incurred a net lass for the period from 6 August 2018 to 31 December
2018 of SR 57,924,381 and a net income for the vear ended 31 December 2019 amounting to SR 59,292,554,
Accordingly, the dividend distributed was in excess of the distributable profits by SR 30,491,827, Our opinion is not
modified in respect of this matter.

Emphasis of Matter — Events after the End of the Reporting Date

We draw attention to note 24 in the accompanying financial statements, as stated therein, subsequent to the year
end the presence of COVID 19 virus was confirmed, which was declared as a global pandemic by the Worid Health
Organizatien "WHO" causing widespread disturbance of commercial and economic activities, The management
considers this event to be an event that does not require adjustments as at the reporting date, as the situation Is
variable and rapidly evolving and the potential impact on the Fund's results cannot be estimated. Our opinion is not
maodified in respect of this matter,

Other Information included in the Fund's 2019 Annual ort
Other information consists of the infarmation Ineluded in the Fund's 2019 annual report, ather than the financial statements
and our auditer's report therean. The Fund Manager s respaonsible for the other infarmation in its annual report.

Our apinion on the financial statements does not cover the other informatian and we do ot express any form of assurance
condusion thereon,

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility ls to read the other information identified above
when It becomes available and, in doing so, consider whather the other information is materially Inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears Lo be materially misstated. If, based on
the wiark we have performed, we conclude that there &5 & material misstaterment in other information, we are réguired to
report that fact, We have nathing to report in this regard.

Respansibilities of the Fund Manager and Board of Directors for the Financial Statements
The Fund Manager is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with IFRS that are endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, and other standards and pronouncement Issued by
SOCPA, and for such Internal control as the Fund Manager determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material migstaternent, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financlal statements, the Fund Manager is responsible for assessing the Fund's abliity to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to Roing concern and wsing the going concern basks of
accounting unless the Fund Manager either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Board of Directors are responsible for overseeing the Fund's financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
TO THE UNITHOLDERS OF SWICORP WABEL REIT FUND

(Managed by SWICORP Company) (continued)

A r's sibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our ebjectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whuther the financial stetements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonzble assurance ks a high level of assurance bt is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in aceordance with
154 that are endorsed In the Kingdom of Saudi Arabla will always detect a materizl misstatement when it exists,
Misstaternents can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually orin the aggregate, they could
reasanably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with 154 that are endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

®  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatément of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
frawd is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may invalve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal controf,

* Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant ta the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Fund’s internal control,

* Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the Fund Manager.

* Conclude on the appropriateness of the Fund Manager's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Fund’s ability to continue 25 = going concern. if we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention In our auditor's report to the related discosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are Inadequate, te modify our apinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's réport. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going concern,

*  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclasures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events In a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, amang other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We aiso provide the Board of Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
theught to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards,
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE UNITHOLDERS OF SWICORP WABEL REIT FUND
(Managed by SWICORP Company) (continued)

Allahaid & Alyahya Chartered Accountants

WG oM 48

Auditor's sibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements continued

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters, We
describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter
or when, in ly rare cir es, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing 50 would reasonabiy be expected to outweigh the public Interest benefits
of such communication.

For Alluhald & Alyahya Chartered Accountants

Turki A. Alluhaid
Certified Public Accountant
Registration No. 438

o

T
"4‘.:'.,, om

Riyadh: 6 Sha’'ban 14414
(30 March 2020}
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SWICORP WABEL REIT FUND
(Managed by SWICORP Company)

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ASSETS

NOMN-CURRENT ASSETS
Investment properties

Right-of-nse assets

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Other receivables

Financial assets at fair value through profit and boss

Rent receivable

Amounts due from a related party
Cash and cash equivalents

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Non-cusrent portion of lease liablites

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Uneamed income

Amounts due 1o relsted parties
Accrued

Current portion af lease liabilities
Fakat payable

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES
TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET ASSETS

Units in issue {nember)
Per unit value (SR)

Per unit fair value (SR}

Mote

515

12
1a
11
5.15
14

A1 Dacember 3! December
e 2ihs
SR SR
1,087,701,256 1,076,257,739
8117812 -
1,095, 819,068 1,076,257,739
1,031,707 -
= 30,226,332
37,199,616 18,124,541
51,183,098 24,188 228
333,756 -
90,849,077 72,539,101
1,186,668, 145 1,148,796, 840
TE4T 321 -
25,837,783 20,913,552
125,749 5,556,875
918,294 250,794
650,000 -
1,980,828 -
29,512,651 26,721,221
37,199,972 26,721,221
1,149, 508,173 1,122,075,61%
118,000,000 118,000,000
974 951
Q.86 9.51

The accompanying notes 1 to 26 foem an integral part of these financial statements,
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SWICORP WABEL REIT FUND
(Managed by SWICORP Company)

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

INCOME
Rental income: from investment propertics

TOTAL INCOME

EXPENSES

Management fee

Custodian fee

Board oversight fee

Property manager fee siud operating
Allowance for doubtful delbis
General and sdministrative

TOTAL EXPENSES

OPERATING PROFIT

Othes income:

Finance charges

Unrealized gain oa financial asscts at fair value through
profit and Joss

Realized gain on financial assets at fiir value through profit
and Joss

FROFIT FOR THE YEAR / PERIOD

Impuirment reversal (loss) on investment properties

PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR / FERIOD AFTER
IMPAIRMENT AND BEFORE ZAKAT

Zakal

PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR / PERIOD AFTER
ZAKAT

‘Oiker comprehensive income

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) FOR
THE YEAR / PERIOD

For the period from
For the pear ended & Auguese 2018
31 December 201% 10 31 December 2018
Note Sk SR
510 91,684,951 70,046,156
91,684,951 0,046,156
10 (8,506,286) (6,473,836)
(546,325) (215,794)
o 20,000) (15,000)
10 (22,331,130) (12,872,568)
a (17,959,611) -
16 (39,775,547) (25,386,125)
(89,139,099) (44,963,323)
2,545,852 25,082,833
10 12,000,000
518 (352,761) -
. 226,332
8 199,315
14,392 406 25,309,165
[ 46,880,973 (83,233,546)
61,273,379 (57,924,381)
14 (1.960,525) -
59,291,554 (57,924,381)
59,292,554 157,924,381)

The accompanying notes | te 26 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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SWICORP WABEL REIT FUND
(Managed by SWICORP Company)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Far the periad from
For the pear ended 6 Anguzr 2018
31 December 2019 10 21 December 2018
Nowe SR SR
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit (loss) for the year / period before zakat 61,273,379 (57.924381)
Adfuriments o reconcile profit for the period fo nes cash fews-
Dieprecistion on investment properties [ 36,005,352 20,508,715
Depreciation on right of use asset 515 476,748 -
Increase in financial assets at fair valus through profit and loss 8 - (226,332)
Gaim on sale of finencial assets at fair value through profit ar loss & {199.315) -
{Reversal) impairment loss on imvestment properties f {46,830,973) 83231546
Allowance for doubiful debts 9 17,950,611 -
Finance charges 515 352,761 -
o9.BET.563 45,591 54K
Warking capiral odustmienis:
Onhes receivables {1,031,707) -
Reat receivable ] (37,034,686) (18,124,541)
Amounts due from a related party 1 (28,095,770 {24,188 228)
Uneamed income 12 4,924,231 20,913,552
Amounts due to related parties 10 (5431,126) 5,556,875
Accrued expenses 13 667,500 250,794
Cash flows from operating activities 3,856,005 30,000,000
Zakat paid 14 =
Net cash flows from operating activities 3,386,008 30,000,000
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of investment properties 6 (1,467,896) (389400, 000)
Purchise of mancy market securities - (30,000,000)
Sale of money market securities i 30,425,647 -
Met cash flows from (used in) investing activities 28,957,751 (419, 400,000
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from units sold 15 - 380,400,004
Dividends paid 23 {31, 5a0,000) -
Lease liabilitics paid 515 (650,000} -
Net cash flows (used in} from financing activities (32,570,000 3R 400,000
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 333,756
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year / period
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR
{ FERIOD 11 333,756 -
NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS
Furchase of investment propertics (compensated against sale of
umits) 15 - 790,600,000
Principal portion of the lease liabilities 518 8117812 -

The accompanying notes 1 to 26 form an integral part of these financial

10
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SWICORP WABEL REIT FUND

(Managed by SWICORP Company)
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Fund Cumulative  Total unitholders'
ity Toxs Hel @iseny
SR &R SR
Lssuance of units
= for cash (nate 15} 359,400,000 - SE0,400,000
= for consideration other than cash (nofe 15) T90,600,000 = TR0, GO0 D
1,150,000,004 - 1, 10,000,000
Lass for the pesiod (57,924,381) 157,924 381)
Other comprehensive income for the period L . - -
Total comprehensive boss for the period B (57,924 381} (57,524 381)
Net assset value sttributed to the unitholders
at 31 December 2018 1,1 80,000,000 (57,534 381) 1,122,075.619
Profit for the year | - 59,292,554 59,202 554 |
Orher comprehensive income for the vear - - -
Total comprehensive income for the year - 50,207 554 50,200 554
Diividendd distribution (nate 23) - (31, 560,000) (31, B60,000)
Net mzset value attributed to the unithelders st 31
December 2019 L, 80,000,000 (30,491,827) 1,149,508,173

The accompanying notes 1 to 26 form an integral part of these financial s
il
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SWICORP WABEL REIT FUND

(Managed by SWICORP Company)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2019

1 CORPORATE INFORMATION

SWICORF WABEL REIT Fund (the “Fund™) is & closed-ended real estate investment traded fund established an
24 Dhul Qadah 1439H (eceresponding to 6 August 2018). The Fund operaies in sccordance with Real Estate
Investment Fund Regulations (“REIFR™) and Real Extate Investment Traded Funds (“REITF") Instrusctions issued
by the Capital Market Authority (“CMA™). The Fund is listed on the Saudi Stock Exchange (“Tadawul™) and the
units of the Fund started to be iraded on Tadawul in accordance with its rules and regulations. The Capital of the
Fund s SR 1,180,000,000 divided inte 118,000,000 units of SR 10 each. The Fund has & term of 99 years, which
is extendable on the discretion of the Fund Manager following the approval of the CM A,

The Fund is being managed by SWICORP Company (the “Fund Manager™), a cdlossd joint stack company licetsed
by Capital Market Authority af the Kingdom of Saud] Arabia with commeseial registration number 1010233360,
and an Authorized Person license number 12161-37, The primary investment ohjective of the Fund is to provide
ite investors with Tegular inecme by investing in income generating real estate assets in the Kingdom of Sawdi
Arahia, exchating the Holy eities of Makkah and Medina.

While the Fund will priexsrily invest in developed real estate assets which are resdy for use, it may also
oppartunistically invest in real estate development projects in a value not exceeding 25% of the Fund’s total asset
value with the nim of achieving an incrense in value per unit; provided that:
(i} at least 75% of the Fund's total assets are invested in developed real estate assels which generate
periodic income and;
(i) the Fund shall net invest in white land.

The Fund Manager's registered office is ¢ office 1-2, Floor 49, Kingdom Tower, P.0. Box 2076, Riyadh 11451,
Kingdom of Sawdi Arshia.

2 REGULATING AUTHORITY

The Fund is yoverned by the REIFR published by the CMA in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia duted 10 Rabi Al-
Thani 14391 (corresponding to 28 December 201 8) and REITF insructions published by CMA dated 19 Jumada
Al-Akhirah 1439H (comesponding to 7 March 2018), detailing requirements for all real estate funds operating
within the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION

EN) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordasce with International Finascial Reporting Standards
{“IFRS"}, as issued hy the International Accounting Standsrds Board ("IASB™) gs cadorsed in the Kingdom of
Saudi Arabia and other sandards asd pronouncements issued by the Saudi Orpanization for Certified Public
Accountanis (“SOCPA™),

12 RBasis of measurenent

These financiel statements have betn prepared under the historical cost convention, using sccrual basis of
accounting and the going concem concept except for financial asseds ot fiir value through profit or koss that have
‘eeen messured at far value.

i3 Functional and presentation currency
These financial statemerts are presented in Saudi Riyals (*SR™), which is the functional currency of the Fund, All
financial information kas been rounded off to the nearest SR,

34 Compirative informagion
The: Fund has prescated the comparative information for fhe period from 6 August 2018 to 31 December 2018 as
these were the first financial period of the Fand.
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SWICORP WABEL REIT FUND
(Managed by SWICORP Company)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
31 December 2019

4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

In the ordirary course of buginess, the preparation of fi ial st roquires o make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expense. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates snd underlying
assumptians are reviewed on an oageing basis, Revision to accoumting estimales are recognized in the period in
which the estimates are reviewed and in amy future period affected. The slgnificant ascounting judgments and
estimates applied in the prepasation of these financial ststements are as follows:

ey Useful lves af investment properties

The management determines the estimated useful lives of invesiment properties far caloulating depreciation. This
estimate iz determined after considering expected usage of the asscta and physical wear and tear. Management
reviews the resicdual value and useful lives annually and change in depreciation charges, if any, are adjusted in
current and future periods. The estimated useful lives of the investment properties are disclosed in nots 6,

4.2 Tmpairment of Investment propevties

The Fund assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all investment properties at each reporting
date. The investment properties are tested for impairment when there are indicators thas the carrying zmeurts may
not bie recoverable. When value in use caleulations are undertaken, managemeni estimates the expected future eash
flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and chooses & suitable discount rate in onder o cabeulate the present
value of thase cash flows,

i3 Fmipairment of financial assees held ar amortised cost

The Fund recognises an allowance for expected crodit losses (ECL3) for all debl instruments not held at (i value
through prefit or loss. ECLs are based an the differcace between the contractual cash flows due In accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Fund expects to recive, discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will inclede cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other
credit enhancements that are integral io the contractual terms.

ECLs are recogiized in two stages. For credit exposurea for which there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result froe default events that are possible
within the next 12-months (a 12-moath ECL), For those credst exposures for which there has boen a significant
inerease in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowasce is required for credit lowmes expected over the
remaining lifie of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the defalt (a lifetime ECL).

As gt the year end, the Fund has rents receivable and amounts due from a related party as financial assets carried
at amortised cost. For rent receivables snd contract assets, the Fund applics a simplified approach in calculating
ECLs, Therefore, the Fund des not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognizes & loss allowance based on
lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Fund has established an allowance mateix that is based on its historical
credit [oss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic envirommest,
The information abeut the ECLs on the Fund's rent receivables is disclased in note 9 and 19.2 in thess financial
Satemends,

£4 Fair value measuremeny

The Fund measures its investments in equity instruments nt fair value at each reporting date, Fair value is the price
that would be received 1o sell an asset or paid to transfer o ligbility in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measuremnent date. The fair value measurement is based an the presumption that the transaction
16 gl the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal markes for the asset or Tiability or, in the
shsence of a principal marked, in the most advantageous market for the assed ar linhility. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be acoessible to the Fand, The fair value of an assel or a linbility Is sveasured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or linbility, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest. A fiir value measurement of 2 nonfinancial asset takes nfo accouni
& market participant's ability i mnmuc!hmgﬁtshyusingﬂmamhilshighmandbmmurby
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The fuir value for finncial instruments traded in active markets a1 the reporting date is based on their quated prices
available on respective stock exchange, without any deduction for transaction costs. The Fusd is using last tesded
prices which ks recognised as stiandard pricing coovention within the indstry,

13
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SWICORP WABEL REIT FUND
(Managed by SWICORP Company)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contirmed)
31 December 2019

4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (continued)

44 Fair value measuremient (continued)

Far all odher financial instruments not traded in an active market, if amy, the fair value is determined ssing valuation
techniques deemed to be appropriate in the circumstances. Valustion technigues include the market approach (i .,
using recent arm'’s length markel transactions, adjustcd s necessary, and reference to the current market value of
another instrument that is substantially the same) and the lncome approach (ie., discounted cash flow analysis and
aption pricing models making as much use of available and supportable market data as possible).

The Fund measures financinl instruments at fir value at each staternent of financial positicn date, Fair values of
those financial instruments are disclosed in note 7 and 17 in these financial statements.

5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The significant accounting policies used in the preparation of these financial statements are as follows:

EN) Trvestment

Investment properties comprise completed properties that are held to eam rentals or for capital appreciation or bot,
Investment propenty is stated at cost including transaction costs net of accumulaied depreciation andior
accumulated impairment losses, if any. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of an existing investment
property at the time that cost is incurred if the recognition criteria ane met,

The cost less estimated residual value, if any, of investment property is depregiated on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of the asscts. Land, on the other hand, s reported st cost The i value of investment
propertics is disclosed in note 7 and 17 in these financial statcments.

52 Cash and cath equivalents
Far the purpases of eash flows statement, eash and cash equivalents consists of bank balances.

53 Finaneial instruments

A financial instrament is any contrect that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and & financial liability or
equity instrument of another entity. In accordance with IFRS 9, the Fund classifics its financial assets and financial
labilities at nitia] recognition into the categories of financial assets and financial lizbilitics discussad balow.

530 Initial recognition and measuvement
The Fand classifies its financin] nssets 85 subsequently measured at amortised enst or measured at fair value through
prodit or loss on the basis af both:

The entity"s business model for managing the financial assets.

‘The comtractual cagh Mow characteristics of the financial zsset.

Financial assets measured af amortived cost

A debt instrument is measused al amartised cost if it is held within a business model whoss ohjective is o hold
financial assets in order te enllect contractual cash flows and its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that arc solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amoust outstanding. The Fund includes
in this category short-term non-fiancing receivables including cash collateral pasted on derivative contracis, and
other receivables. The Fund initially recognises financial assets and financial lishilities when it beeomes parly to
the contractual provisions of the fimancial instnamet,
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SWICORP WABEL REIT FUND

(Managed by SWICORP Company)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2019

5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
L31  Initial i et (condmned)

Financial asvet ot fair value through prafic ar loss

A finaneial asset is measured st fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) if:

() Tts contructual terms do not give rise o cash flows an specified dates that arc solely payments of principal and
interest {SPP1) on the principal amount outstanding;

Or

(b} Tt s mot held within 2 business model whase objective is elther o collect contractusl cash flows, or to both
collect contractual cash flows and zell;
Or

(e} At Initial recognition, it is in by desip 5 d at F¥PL when doing so eliminates or significanihy
redisces a measwrement or recognition inconsistency that would stherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilites
of recognising the gains and losses on them an different bases.

The Fund includes in this category:
Money market securities: These include investments that ars held under a business model to manage them on a fair
value basis for investment income and Fuir value gains.

The Faad’s financial assets include Finanoinl assets at fair value through profit and loss,

532 Subsequent measarement
Financial assets are subsequently measured nt amortised cast or FVPL. There are two criteria wed to determine
how financial assets should be classified and measured:

) The Fund's business model for managing the financial assets; and

) The contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset

A financial asset is measured ar amortised cost if the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding,
Otherwise, a financial asset is messured at FVPL,

The subsequest measurement of financial ussets depends on their classification as described below:

Flnaiicial airets at fair value through profit or loss

Subsequent changes in the fair value of those financial instruments sre recorded in net gain or loss on financial
asscts and lisbilities af FYPL in the staiement of comprehensive income. Interest and dividends esrmned or paid on
these instruments are recorded separately in interest revenue or experse and dividend revense or expense in the
statement of comprehensive income.

Lowns and receivabies
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active markel. The Fund includes in this categary other short-term receivables,

The Fund derecognises u financinl asset when the rights to the cash flows from the financial asset have expired or
where the Fund has transferrad substantially all Asks and rewards associated with the Gnuncial asset and does not
retain control of the financial nsset.
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SWICORP WABEL REIT FUND
(Managed by SWICORP Company)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
31 December 2019

5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continmed)

54 Impatrment af non-financial asset

The carrying values of nen-financial assets are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in clreumstances
indicate the earrying value may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for the ameunt by which the
carmying amourl of the nssct exceeds its recoverable amount which is the higher of an asser's fair value less cost to
sell and value in use. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but the incressed carrying amount should net excend the carrying
amouni that would have been determined, had no impairment loss been recognized for the assets or cash i
unit in peior yesrs. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized as income immediately in the statement of
comprehensive income.

is5 Financial liahilides - sub lavsificarion amd

Financial liabililies are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate (“EIR™) method.
The EIR is the rate that discounts the estimated fisture cash payments through the cxpeeted life of the finansial
Tiability, or where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount or, initial recognition.

The Fund derecognises a financial lisbility (or part of & financial lisbility) from its statement of Bnancial position
when, and only when, it is extinguished, Le. when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelked
or expires.

The Fund's financial liabilities include due lo unearned revenues, acerued management foe and accrued expenses,

56 Offsetting of fimancial insiruments

Financial assets and linbilitics are offset with the net amount reported in the statement of financial position only if
there is a current enforoeable legal right to offset the recognised amoanis and an intent to settle on a Bet basis, or
to realise the assets and linbilitics simubtansously,

7 Provisiom
Provisions are recognised when the Fund kas a present obligation (legal ar construstive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that an wutflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation
and a refiable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

ig Right-af-use axsess

The Fund recognises right-of-use assets af the commencement date of the lesse (i.e., the date the underlying asset
is available foe nse). Right-of-use assets are messused at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impadrment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities, The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amsout
of leass liahilities recognised, initial ditect costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received. Unless the Fund is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the leased
weset ot the end of the leass term, the recognised right-of-use assets are depreciated on a siraight-line basis over the
shuorter of its estimated usefial life and the lease term. Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment.

5y Lease Habilites

At the commencement date of the |ease, the Fund recognises lease linhilitics measured at the present vabue of lease
payments o be made ovir the lesse term. The lease payments include fined payments (inchding in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable bease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The leass payments also include the exerciss price
of a purchase apfion reasonably certain to be exercised by the Fund and payments of penalties for ferminating &
lease, if the lease term refleets the Fund exercising the option to terminate. The varishle lease payments that do not
depend an an index or a rate are recognised as expense in the period on which the event or comdition that riggers
the payment occurs.
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5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

310 Revenue recognition
The Fund recopnizes revenue from contracts with customers based on s five-step model as set out in IFRS 15,
Revenue from Contracts with Cucstomers:

Step 1. Identify the contract with 2 customer: A contract is defined as an sgreement between two or more parties
thest creates enforceable rights and obligations and sats out the criteria that musst be met,

Step2.  identify the performance obligations in the contraet: A perfarmance obligation & a promise in a contract
with a customer to ransfer a good or service to the customer,

Step3.  Determine the transaction price: The transaction price is the amount of cossideration o which the Fund
expests to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods er services to o customer, exclading
amounis collected on behalf of third parties.

Step4.  Allocate the transaction price o the performance obligations in the contract: For a contract that has more
than one performance ebligation, the Fund will allocate the fransaction price to each performance
obligation in an amount that depicts the amount of consideration to which the Fumd expects s be entitled
in exchange for satisfying each performance abligation,

Step 5. Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

The Fund sstisfies a performance obligation and recognizes revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is
met:

+  The customer simulianeously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Fund’s perfarmance as the
Fund performs; or

*  The Fund's performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is crested or
enhanced; or

»  The Fund's performance does not create an nsset with an alernative use to the Fund and the Fund has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date,

For performance obligations, where one of the shove conditions are not met, revenue is recognized at the point in
time at which the performance obligation is satisfied. When the Pund satisfies a performance ohligation by
delivering the promised services, it creates a contract asset based on the amount of considerstion eamed by the
performance, Where the amount billed to the custamer excesds the smoust of revenue recognized, this gives rise
toa contract liability. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, taking into
account contractually defined terms of payment.

The specific recognition criterin described below must also be met before revene is recognised.

Rental income
Rental income from operating bease of property is recognised on a straight-line basds over the term of the operating
lease.

a1 Management fees, custodian feey and other expenves
Management fees, custodian fees, administration foes and other expenses are charged ot rates / amounts within
limits mentioned in the texms and conditions of the Fund.

12 Net asvers valae
The: net assets value per unit disclosed in the financial statements is caleulated by dividing the net assets of the
Fund by the sumber of units in issue at the year-end,

503 Zakat
Fakat is provided for in accordance with General Authority of Zakat and Tax ("GAZT™) regulations. Adjustments
arising from final Zakal assessments are recorded in the period in which such assessments are made.

S04 Dividend distribution
The Fund has o policy of distributing and paying at least 90% of its income, not ineluding profit resulting from the
sale of the underfying real estste assets and cther investments.
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5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

515 Siandards and i o evisting dards effective ] January 2019

IFRS 16 "Leases™

IFRS 16 supersedes TAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Amrangement contains a Lease, SIC-15
Operating Leases-Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluaring the Subsiance of Transactions Invelving the Legal Form of &
Lease. The standard sets oat the principles for the ¢ it ni, p ion and disclosure of leases
anvl requises lessees to account for all leases under a single an-balance sheet model.

Lessor accounting under IFRS 16 is substantinlly unchanged under IAS 17. Lessors will contimue to classify leases
cither operating or finance leases using similar prineiples as in IAS 17. Therefore, IFRS 16 did nat have an impact
for leasss where the Fund is the bessar,

The Furd adopted IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective method of adoption with the date of initial application
of 1 January 2019, Under this method, the standard is applied retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially
applying the standard recogrised at the date of initial application,

The Fund has nssessed the impact of shave standard. Based an the assessment, the sbove standard has the following
impact an the Fund's financial statements at the reporting date:

SR
Asgeis:
Right-of-use asset recognized on | Jenuary 2019 8,594,560
Less: depreciation charge for the year (476,748)
Right-of-use nsset a5 on 31 December 2019 BI117,812
Mon-carrent assets 8,117,812
Current agsets _
B 117,812
Liabilities:
Lease lahdlities recorded on | January 2019
Add: finence charge for the year 352,761
Less: paymenits made during the year (650, D00y
B297.321
Non-current liabilities 1647321
Current liabilities 650,000
8297311

Mature of the effect of adoption of IFRS 16

The Fund held land relating to its investment property under an operating lease, As per the previous standard’s
requirements for operating leases, the leased property was nat capitalised and the lease payments were recognised
a5 rent expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis aver the lense term. Any prepaid rent and acerued rent were
recognised under prepayments and trade and other payahles, respectively. Upan adoption of IFRS 146, the Fund
recognised right-of-use acsels and leass linbilities for the leasehold Land previously classified as an operating lease,
The right-nf-use asset was recognised bused an the amount equal to the lease lisbilities, adjusted for related prepaid
and accrued lease paymeits previously recognised, if any. Lease liabilitics were recognised based on the presest
value of the remaining lesse payments, discounted using the incremental borrowing rate af the date of initial
application,

18
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5 BIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
515 Seandards and e o exi: standards gffective | Jangary 2019 feontinued)
The lease linhilities as at 1 January 2019 can be reconciled to the operating lease commitrents as follows:

SR

Operating lease commitments as #1 1 January 2019 12,350,000
Weighted average incremental borrowing rate 2s at | January 2019 4.28%
Digeovnted operating lease commitments at 1 January 2019 8,304,560
Lease lahilitics as on 1 January 2019 8,504,560

[ —
516 New and inderp effective after 1 Ji g 2009 gnd kave net been early
adapred

The following standards, amendments to standards and interpregations are ot yet effeciive and neither expected o
have & significant impact an the Fund®s financial sintement:

Standards / amendments i standards £ imterpreradons Effective date
Definition of a Busi {Amead 1o [FRS 3) 1 January 2020
Deefinition of Material {(Amendments ta 1A% ] and LAS 8) 1 January 2020
TFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2021

In the opinion of the Board of Directors of the Fund, these standards, amendments to standards and isterpretations
will clearly not impact the Fund as the Fund has no spplication to the sbove-mentioned standards.

160 Awnuwal Tmprovements to IFRSs 2018-2020 Cyele
*  IFRS 3, Business Combinations and IFRS L1, Joint Arrangements clarify how an enfity accounts for
increasing its interest in a joint aperation that meets the definition of & business.
+  Ifa party maintains (or obinins) joint control, then the previousty held interest is nol remeasared.

5062 Amnual Improvements to IFRSs 2078-2020 Cyele feontinues)
*  Ifaparty obains control, then the transaction is a business combination achicved in stages and the acquiring
party remeasures the previousty held interest at fair value,

* IAS 12, [ncome Taves, clarifies that all income tax consequénces of dividends (including payments on
financial instruments classified as equity} are recognised consistently with the ransactions that genernted the
distributable profits - i.e. in profit or loss, ather comprehensive income or equity.

*  1AS 23, Borrowing Costs, clarifies that the general bommowings pool used to caloulate cligible barrowing costs
encludes only borrowings that specifically finance qualifying asmets that are still under development or
construction. Bormowings that were intended to specifically finance qualifying assets that are now ready for
their intended use or sale - or any nongualifying assets — are included in thet gencral pool. As the costs of
retrospective application might outweigh the benefits, the changes are applied prospectively to borrowing
coats incurred on or after the date an entity adopts the amendments,

5063  Osher amendments
The following new or amenmdments to standards are not yet effective and neither expecied fo have a significan
mpact on the Fund's flsancial stetements:
* IFRS %, Financinl Instruments, Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation.
= IAS |9, Employee Benefits, Plan Amendments, Curinilment or Seitlerment.
= 1AS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventares
= IFRIC 23, Unceriainty over Income Tax Treatments.
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] INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
The compositicn of the investment properties as of the reporting date is summarized below:
31 December 2019

Accumdated Torpairment Net book
Description Cast depreciation (mote 6,15 varlue
SR SR SR SR
Dawadimi Mall 167,468,224 (12.848,016) (2,247,0200 152,373,188
AlKhair Mall 323,560,874 (9,851,355) {34,105,553) 279,603,966
Hafar Al-Batin Mall 470,557,681 (23,183,791} - 447,373,890
Tabouk Mall 219,881,117 {11,530,905) - 208,350,212
1,181,467, 896 (57.414,067) (36,352,573) 1,067,701,156
3 December 201§
1 b d - Wer book
Descripiion Cogt depreciation {revie 6,35 valiie
5K SR iR SR
Dawadmi Mall 166,815 938 (4, 049,656) 23,705,662) 139,060,620
AlKhair Mall 313,560,574 (3,597 886) (33,456232) 286,506,756
Hafar Al-Batin Mall 470,205,99] (8,415,756) (23,780,900 43E,009.265
Tabouk Mall 219.417,197 (4,445.417) (2,290,682 212,681,098
1, 180,000,000 (20,508,715) ($3,233,546) 1,076,257,739

During the year, depreciation amounts of SR 36,905,352 was charged (2018: 20,508,715) & disclosed in note 16,
6.1 - the useful life of freehold properties is assessed at 25 years from date of scquisition.
6.1 b- the useful life of leaschold properties is sssessed at remaining land lease period from the date of acquisition.

6.2 Freshold

Land comprises of the lamés acquired on which the buildings are built. The Fund acquired frochold properties in
Riyadh, Hafar Al-Batin and Tabuk with an aggregate area of 185,721 square meter of land. Additionally, the Fund
acquired a leaschold land investment property in Dowadmi with land ares of 72,678 square meier, The
considerntion for the properties was panily paid in cash and partly settled through issuance of 79,060,000 units of
the Fund {nate 15).

a3 Listed below are the deinils of the investment properties:

&30 Pawadmi Mall

This property is a fully construcied commercial facility on a leasshold land, located in Dwandmi, Kingdom of Saudi
Avabia “KSA™),

6312 AlKhair Mall
This property is a fully constructed commercial facility on 3 freebald land, located in Al Malga District, Rivadh,
KSA.

6.3.3  Hafur Al-Batin Mall
This property is a fully constructed commercial facility on a freshald land, located in Al Rayan [Nstrict, Hafar Al-
Biatin, K5A.

634 Tabowk Mall
This property & a fully construcied commercial facility on a freehold kand, located in Al Rajhi Dvistrict, Tabouk,
KSA,
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& INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continned)

G315 Tmpalmeent of irvesmment properties

The investment properties were tested for impai and the noted their camying amoant nol to be
recoverable. During the year, the management recognised a net reversal of impairment of SR 46,880,073 {reversal
of SR 47,530,204 and an impairment of SR 640,321) (2018: recognised an impairment loss of SR 83,233,548 o
adjust the value of its investment propenties o its recoverable amount based on the average fair value as the
reparting pesiod determined by the independent evaluators a5 shown in nate 7, The key assumptions taken for

huation as ar 31 I ber for these investment properties are as follows:
31 December 2019
Discouni Exit yield Capitali; Ercalati
£ % % %
Dawadmi Mall 115 143 4.5 2
AlKhair Mall .5 85 75 2
Hafar Al-Batin Mall 10.5 9.5 85 2
Tabouk Mall 10 il 8 2
A1 December 200§
Discount Exis yield Capitalizgtion Escalation
* % k1
Dawadmi Mall 11 1309 9 2
AlKhair Mall 95 7.5 7.5 2
Hafar Al-Batin Mall 10 8 8 2
Tabouk Mall 10 ] 8 2

7 EFFECT ON NET ASSET VALUE IF INVESTMENTS IN REAL ESTATE PROPERTIES ARE
FAIR VALUED

In sccordance with Asticle 21 of the REIFR issued by CMA in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, the Fund Manager
evaluates the Fund's real estate sssets based on two evaluations prepared by independent evaluators, However, in
accordance with the requiremest it the Kingdom of Saudi Arsbia, investment in real estate properties are camied
&l cost beas depreciation and impairment, if amy, in thess firanclal statements. Accordingly, the fair value below is
disclesed for information purposes.

I The fair valus of the investment properties is determined by two selected appraisers, i.e. BARCODE and
BLSSMA. As ot period end, the valuation of investment properties are as follows:

Appralser { Appraizer 2 Average
I December 2019 SR SR iR
Dawadmi Mall 136,830,000 167,916,375 152,373,188
AlKhair Mall 272,480,000 286,727,931 279,603 966
Hafar Al-Batin Mall 473,460,000 447,804,080 460,632 040
Tabouk Mall 210,310,000 209,224,978 200,767 459

1,093, 050,000 LI11,673,364 1,102,376, 663

Appraiser [ Appraiser 2 Average
3! December 2018 AR i SR
Dawadmi Mal 136,955 833 141,165,407 138,060,620
AlKhair Mall 283,623,702 289,389,810 286,500,756
Hafar Al-Batin Mall 427,620,416 448,198,112 438,000,264
Tabouk Mall 216,891,061 20847,136 212,681,099

1,065,261,012 L.0B7.224,465 1,076,257,739

21
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7 EFFECT ON NET ASSET VALUE IF INVESTMENTS IN REAL ESTATE PROPERTIES ARE
FAIR VALUED (continued)

Management has used the average of the two valuations for the purposes of disclosing the fair value of the
investment propertics. The investment properties were valued taking into consideration a number of factars,
including the arca and type of property. Below is an analysis of the investment propertics’ falr value against
carrying value:

2 The unrealised loss on investment properties based on fair value evalsstion is set out below:

2019 2018

SR iR
Fair value of investments in real eatate properties (note 7.1 1,102 376,683 1,076,257, 739
Less: Carrying value of investments in real estate properties (note 6) (1087, 700,256)  (1,076,257,739)
Net impact based on fair value evaluztion 14,675,427 -
Units in {ssee 118,000,000 118,000,000
Tmpact per unit share based on fair value evalustion [N -

23 The net asset value using the fair values of the real estate properties is set out below:

F 2018
iR SR
Met asset value at cost, as presented in thess financial staterments 1,149,508,173 1,122,075 610
Wet irtrpact based on real estate evaluations (note 7.2) 14,675,427 -
Net asset based on fair value 1,164,183,600 1,122,075,619

T4 The net asset value per unit, wsing the fair values of the resl estate properties is sel out below:

2018 2058
SR SR
Met asset value per unit, at cost as presented in these financial
slatements 9.74 9.5
Tenpract on net asset value per unit on account of unrealissd loss based
on fair value evaluations (note 7.2} 1z
Net assed value per unit at fair vahse 986 o.51

& FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT AND LOSS

Daring the peried, the Fund has dispossd of its investment in its debi-based securities. The following are the
movements of the investment during the year:

Number af Ulnit varlue ar 31 Net book
31 December 2018 wnifts December 2048 valie
SR SR
Money market socurities 195,560 15456 30,226,332
22
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L] FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT AND LOSS (continued)
Met gain of financial assets through profit or loss during the period is as follows:

For the period from 6
For the year ended  August 2018 1o 31
3 Deécember 2018 December 2018
SR

IR
Financial nsser
Net gain from changes In fair value of investment in money market
securities - 226,332
Net gain from sale of investment in maney market securities 199,315 -

9 RENT RECEIVABLE

This sccount represents the reat receivable from the investment properties in accondence with the terms of the
comespanding tenimcy agresments. The rent receivables ase current in nature, settled within a shert period of time.

During the year, the Fund has made & specific allowance for doubtful debts amounting to SR 11,732,206 {2018:
nil) and an allowance for exposted credit losses ameounting to SR 6,227,315 (2018: nil).

Infoemation abaut the Fund’s exposure to expected eredil Loss are shown In nate 19.2.

2019 2008
SR SR
Rent receivable 55,158,227 18,124,541
Leas: Allowance for dowbtfial debis {17,959,611) -
37,199,616 18,124,541

The: following is the aging analysis of the rent receivables as at the reporting date:

a1 2018

SR SR
Less than 90 days 21,736,017 14,497 451
Between 91 to 180 days 6,991,047 2,579,145
Between 181 to 360 days 20,739,636 1,047,345
More than 360 days 5,692,527 -

55,159,227 18,124,541

The following is the movement of allewance far doubtful debts 83 #1 the reparting date:

For the period from &
For the pear ended  August 2018 fo 31
A1 December 2019 December 2018

SR SR
At the beginning of the year'pesiod - -
Allowance made during the yearperiod 17,950,611 -
At the end of the year/period 17959611
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1] RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

Related parties are considered to be related If ane party has the ability o contral the other Pty or exercise
significant influence over the other party in making financial or cpersiional decisions. The Fund Manager and
entities / persons relsted to Fund Manager are considered as related parties of the Fund, In the eedinary course of
its activities, the Fund transacts business with s related parties, Related party tronsactions are governed by limits
set by the Regulations issed by the CMA. All the related party transactions are approved by the Fand's Board of
Directors,

al Management fes

In consideration for manzging the asiets of the Fund, the Fund Manager in sccordance with the Terms and
Conditions of the Fund charges the Fund a management fee equal o 0.75% of the net asset value of the Fund
calculated semi-nnnually in arrears and payable quarterly.

by Property manager fee and operating

In consideration for managing the properties of the Fund, the Fund Manager in accordance with the Terms and
Conditions of the Fund charges the property a property fee and operating expenses equal io
¥4 and 17% of the rental income, respectively, calculated annually and paysble semi-aniisally,

& Board of Directors remumenation
Each independent member of te Board of Directors is allowed s remuneration of SR 5,000 excluding out of pocket
expenses annually,

The fullewing are the details of the transactions with relsted parties during the year:

“or the period from 6
For the year ended  Augare 2078 1o 31
Mature Nature 31 December 2019 December 2018

Relaied pariies af relatonship af ransactions SR SR
Wabel Al Arabia far Property manager  Cash held as advance - 35474691
Investment Company and unitholder by Fund

Guaranteed net

operaling meome - 56,873,000

Rental income from

investment propertics 65,408,596 2,780,011

Media sl advertising 12,000,000 -

income

Property manager fee

and operaling 22,331,130 12,872,568

Paymenis made on (27,953,565) .

hehalfof Fund

Reoeipts of Fund (21,329,261)

Management fee 8,506,286 6,473,836
SWICORP Company unitholder

Independent
Board of Directors  Directars Hoard oversight fee 20,000 15,000
The following are the details of the related party halances at the year-end:
a9 2018

Amounts due from a related party 5R SR
Wabel Al Arabia for Investment Compary 52,183,998 24,158,228
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10 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES (continued)

The following are the details of the related party balances at the year-end:

2019 2008
Amounts due o relited parites SR SR
SWICORP Company 95,749 5,541,875
Board oversight fee 30,000 15,000

125,749 5,556,475

The unit holder's account included units (in mumbers) held as folfows:

09 2008

Units Linfes
Wahel Al Arabia for Investment Company 62,960,000 62,960,000
SWICORP Company 3,058,562 3,058,562

Asat 31 December 2019, board members of the Fusd hebd 4,458,834 units (2018; 4,458,834),

1 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

As at 31 December 2019, the bank balance with an amount of SR 333,756 (2018: Nil) is maintained with an acooant
al Riyadh Bank which is under the name of the Fund Manager and not under the name of the Fund.

1 UNEARNED INCOME

Represents rent income billed in advance in respect to the investment properties. The movement in unearned
Income for the year / period is as follows:

20 2008
SR SR
Opening during the year / pericd 20,913,552 .
Received during the year / period 102,649,504 00,959 708
Recognised during the year / period (7, T25273) (70,046,156)
25837, 783 20,913,552
13 ACCRUED EXPENSES
2019 Mg
SR ris
Custady fee 433,241 215,794
Listing fee 168,705 -
Valuation fee 161,500
Administration fee 87,347 -
Professional fee 67,500 35,000
018,204 250,704
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14 ZAKAT
140 Charge for the pear / period

During 2019 the fund has registered with the General Avthority of Zakat and Income Tax for Zakat purposcs.
Accordingly, the Fund s caleulated Zakat provision starting the year of 2019 and onwards. Zakat charge of SR
1,980,825 (2018: Nil) provided is the staternent of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2019
consists of current year"s provisien. The eurrent year's provision is bassd on the Following;:

e R
SR SR
Unitholders equity 1,090,215,619 -
Unitholders sccount and provisions 8,297,321 =
Book value of long term assets and other asets (1,048,938,095) -
49,574,845
Zakal hase before adjusted net income for the Georgian year 51,115,306
Adjusted net income the year | period 32,352,017 -
Zaknt hase 83,467,323 -

Zakat is payahle at 2.5% higher of approximate zakat base or sdjusted net income.

142 Adiusted net income

Far the period from
Far the pear euded § August 2008 1o 71
31 December 2019 December 2015

Income hefore zakat 61,273,370 -
Add: Provisions charged during the year / period 17,950,611 -
Adjusted net income for the yeas / period 79,232,000 -

143 Zakai provision

Far the period from
For the pear ended & Auguss 2018 10
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

AR SR
At the beginning of the year / period - =
Charged during the year / period 1,980,825 -
At the end of the year / period 1,980,825 -

M4 Setus of assessment

During the year the Fund registered itself with General Authority of Zakat and Tax (“GAZT™), the Fund has nof filed
the zakat retarns for the period up to 2019; accordingly, no zakat assessments have yet been rised by the GAZT.
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15 UNIT TRANSACTION
Transaction in unils of the Fund for the year / period is summarised as follows:

2019 2iia
(numbers) (rumbers)
Units at the beginning of the year  perlad 118,000,000 .
Units issued during the year / period for consaderation in cash - 38,940,000
Units issued during the year / period for consideration other than cash - 79,060,000
Units a1 the end of the year / pesiod 118,000,000 118,000,000

During the year, the Fund did not issue any new units (200 8: 38,940,000 units for SR IE0. 400,000 of which SR
354,000,000 were subscribed by the general public, and SR 35,400,000 by the Fund manager and 79,060,000 units
were issued a8 & consideration for the purchase of investment properties),

16 GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE
For the period from

For the pear ended & Avaiest 2008 1o
3 December 2019 31 December 2018

his iR
Depreciation (note &) 36,905.351 20,508,715
Professional fee 564,000 50,750
Property insurance 483,657 161,128
Depreciation of right-of-use asset (note 5.15) 476,748 .
Repulator fee 400,000 257,462
Legal expenses 380,162 61,608
Administration fee 379,933 -
Listing fes 168,705 -
Establishment fee - 4,2693N
Oahers 16,990 7,000

39,775,547 25386,125

17 FAIR YALUE MEASUREMENT

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a lighility in on orderly trangaction
between market participants st the measurement date. The fair value measurement is bassd on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfier the liability takes plice either:

*  In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
*  Inthe sbsence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liahility.

Assets and lEahilities for which fair value is recognised or disclosed are categarized within the fair value hierarchy,
hased on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value messurement as a whole, as follows:

*  Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or lahilities

* Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level inpui that is significsnt to the fair value
measrement is directly or indirectly ohservabie.

* Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unabsarvable
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17 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

Financial assets consist of financial assets held at fair value through profit and loss, rent receivables and due from
a related party, Financial liabilities consist of uneamned income, acerued mansgement fee and accrued expenses.
The fair values of financial assets and financial lizbilities are not materially different from thieir carrying values,

The following table shows the fals value of financial instruments disclosed as at year end:

31 Pecember 2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Tortal

18 iR SR 5R
fnvestment properties
Dawadmi Mall . 152,373,188 . 152,373,188
AlKhar Mall B 279,603,966 . 279,603,966
Hafar Al-Batin Mall - 460,632,040 . 460,632,040
Tabouk Mall - 200,767 489 = 200,767 489

- 1,102,376,683 - 1,102,376,683
31 Devember 2618 Level | Level 2 Level 3 Total

SR SR 3R SR
Finaneiol assers at fair value
Hwough profit and lpss
Money market securities 30,226,332 - - 30226332
fimvesiment i
Dawadmi Mal) - 130,060,620 - 139,060,620
AlKhair Mall - 256,506,750 - 286,506,756
Hafar Al-Batin Mall - 438,000,264 - 438,009,264
Tabouk Mall - 212,681,099 - 112,681 009

30,226,332 L,076,257,730 - 110,484,071

When the fair value of items disclosed in these financial statements cannat be derived from active markess, their
fair value is determined using a variety of valuation technigues that include the wse of valuation models. The npuis
to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, estimation is
required in establishing fair values. The esti include considerations of liquidity and model inputs related to
items such as credit risk, comelation and volatility,

Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the fair value of fems disclosed in thess financial
statements and the level where the items are disclosed in the fair value hierarchy.

The financial assets at fair value through profit and loss are based on valuation techniques for which the bowest
level mput that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly obssrvable, the instraments are
included within Level 2 of the hierarchy. The Fund values these investments ai bidd price for leag positions and ask
price for short poaitions.

The fir values of invesimen! propertics were assessed by BARCODE and BUSSMA as disclosed in note 7, They
are aceredited independent valuers with a recognised and relevant professional qualification snd with recent
experience in the location and category of the investment propertics being valued.

The valustion models have been applied in accordance with the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS)
Valuation Standards, in addition to recently published International Valuation $tandards isswed by Inmternational
Valuation Standards Council (IVSC) and applied by Saudi Authority for Accredited Valuers [TAQEEM). Thes=
midels comprise both the income capitalisation approach and deprecinted replacement cost (DRC).
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18 OPERATING LEASES
Future sents] commitments under the eperating leases are as follows (note 5.15):
3 December 3! Devember

2019 2008

XR SR
Ne later than one yesr GBS0 650,000
Later than ene year and not later than five years 3,250,000 3,250,000
Later than five years 7,800,000 A,430,000

11,700,000 12,350,000

19 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Fund's sctivitics expose It 1o a variety of financial risks: market risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and property
rigk.

The Fund Manager is responsible for identifying and controlling risks. The Fund Hoard supervises the Fund
Manages and is ultimately responsible for the overall management of the Fund.

The Fund has its Terms and Conditions document that sets out its overall business strategies, its tolerance of risks
and its general risk management philosophy and is ohliged io take actions to rebalance the portfolio in line with the
investinent guidelines.

i Marker risk

The Fund will be subject 1 the génerl conditions of the real estate sector in Saudi Arabia, which itself is influenced
by a variety of factors such ag, but not limited to the overall macroecanomic grewth in the kingdom, interest rates,
demand-supply, availability of financing, investor sentirment, liguidity, legal and regulatory requirement. The Fund
management monitors on a regular basis the fluctation and changes in the overall economic environment and
believes that the impact of such changes is not significant to the Fund.

192 Crediy risk
Credit risk is the risk that ene party o financial instruments will fail to discharge an cbligation and cause the sther
party toincur a financial loss. The Fund is exposed to eredit risk on the followings:

31 December 31 December

2019 JE
SR AR
Amounts due from a relsted party (note 10 52,253,998 24,188,228
Rent receivable (note 9) 37,199,616 18,124,541
B9A83,614 42,312,769

The carrying amount of financhsl assets represents the maximum credit exposure.

The Fund secks to limit its credit risk with respect to rent receivables by charging rent in sdvance, providing
digeaunts ns credit notes and by menitoring outstanding balances on an ongoing basis with the actual results foe the
Fund. Fusiher, the Fund Limits its credit risk with respect to due from a related party, as the Fund cxpects the
receivables to be fully recoverable as these arc secured by promissory notes from the related parties.
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19 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

192 Credit risk {contimued)

The following table details the risk profile of rent receivables based on the Fund's expected credit loss matrix:
Expected eredit

3! December 2019

Less than 90 days
Between 91 o 180 days
Between 151 to 360 days
Mare than 360 days

3 December 2018

Less than 90 days
Between 91 to 180 days
Between 181 to 360 days
Mere than 360 days

193 Liguidi risk

loss rate

7.06
855
12,75
25.20

Expected credit

Joxs rate

Liguidity risk is the risk that the Fund will encovntes difficulty in raiging funds i meet commitments associated
with financin] instruments. Liguidity risk may result from an izability to ssil a financial asset quickly al an amount
clase to its fair value. Liquidity risk is managed by monitoring on a regular basis that sufficlent funds are available

o meet any fisture commitments.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Fund's financial lisbilitics based on contractual

undiscounted payments:

31 Decensber 2019

Uncamed income
Amounts due to related parties
Accrued expenses

31 December 2008

Unearmed income
Amounts due fo related parties
Accreed expenses

Less tham 3
On demand moRhs Total
SR SR SR
- 15,837,783 15,837,783
- 125,749 125,749
- 918,294 918,204
26,881,826 26,881 K26
Less than §
On demand RS Total
SR SR R
- 20,913,552 20,913,552
- 5,556,475 5,336,875
- 250,794 250,794
- 26,721,221 26,721,221
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1% FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

194 Proper(y risk

Property risk is the risk related to the investmen: properties of the Fund, The Fund's management has identified the
risk that a tenant may became insolvent cansing & significant boss of rental income and & reduction in the valug of
the associate property. To reduce this risk, the Fund reviews the financial status of all prospective tenants and
decides on the appropriste measures to mitignte this risk.

20 OPERATING SEGMENT

The Fund is organised into one aperating segment. Al of the Fund's activities are interrelated and cach activity is
dependent on the others. Aceoedingly, all significant operating decisions are based upon analysis of the fund as one
segrment,

il COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The corresponding figures have been rearranged and reclassified, wherever considered necessary for the purposes
of comparison and better presentation. Following major changes have been made:

Amowns
Line items Reclassified from: Reclassified so: R
Board oversight fee  Accrued expesnses Amounts due to related partics 15,000
Custodian fee General and administrative exp 51 of compr ive income 215,794

Property and
operating expenses  Genersl and adininistrative expenses  Statement of comprehensive income 12,872,568

22 CONTINGENCIES
In the opinion of Fund management there are no contingencies as at the reporting dase,
23 DIVIDENDS DISTRIBUTION

On 11 March 2019 (corresponding to 7 Rajab 1440) the Fund Monager announced 1o distribute dividends of SR
0.27 per unit to the unitholders for the period from & August 2018 1o 31 December 2018 amounting to SR
31,860,000. The Fund had incurred a net loss for the period from 6 August 2018 te 31 December 2018 of SR
57,924,381 and a net income for the year ended 31 December 2019 amounting to SR 59,292,554, Accordingly, the
dividend distributed was in excess of the distributable profits by S8 30,491 827,

24 EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING DATE

A the beginning of the year 2020, the presence of COVID 19 virus was confirmed, which was declared as a global
pandeimic by the Warld Health Organization “WHO™ causing widespresd disturbance of commercial and econamic
activities. On 17 March 2020, the Fund manager anmounced a material development to Swicorp Wabel REIT Fund
regarding temporary closure of shopping centers pursuant to the precawtionary directive issued by the Government
1o contain the spread of COVID 19,

The managernent considers this event o be an event that does not require adjustments after the financial reparting

period, as the situation is variable and rapidly evolving and the patential impact on the Fund's resulis cannot he
catimated,

=3 LAST VALUATION DAY
The last valuation day for the year was 31 Deccmber 2019 (2018; 31 December 2018},
16 APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved by the Fund’s Board of Directors on 6 Sha'ban 1441 H {cormesponding to
I March 2020).
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